

Submitted To:

lain Lunn Ministry of Water Land and Air Protection, Region 2 #10470 152nd Street Surrey B.C. V3R 0Y3

> Bob Gunn British Columbia Institute of Technology Fish, Wildlife and Recreation Program 3700 Willingdon Avenue Burnaby B.C. V5G 3H2

> > Submitted By:

Jen Carter Zac Semeniuk British Columbia Institute of Technology Fish, Wildlife and Recreation Program

Executive Summary

Bull trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*) populations are at presumed conservation risk levels in the southwestern corner of British Columbia. Their habitat is threatened by urban development, poaching, and over fishing. Since the Resort Municipality of Whistler, and the surrounding area, is used extensively for recreational purposes, it is important to determine bull trout presence in order to aid in planning processes, to ensure that fish populations and habitat are not drastically compromised. The purpose of this study was to determine the presence of bull trout in selected streams between Whistler and Pemberton British Columbia.

The study area was located between the Resort Municipality of Whistler and Pemberton British Columbia. The six streams selected to be sampled over the duration of the study were: Blackcomb Creek, Fitzsimmons Creek, Nineteen Mile Creek, Rutherford Creek, Soo River, and Twentyone Mile Creek. Each stream was selected based on the presence of suitable bull trout habitat, which included attributes that bull trout have been shown in scientific literature to prefer, or at the request of the Ministry of Water Land and Air Protection. The fieldwork was conducted by British Columbia Institute of Technology Fish, Wildlife and Recreation students between October 2004 and April 2005. Sampling methods included the use of juvenile seine nets, minnow traps, and angling. The fish capture component of the study occurred between October 2004 and January 2005.

Two bull trout were captured over the duration of the study. One bull trout was captured in Fitzsimmons Creek, while the other was captured in Blackcomb Creek, which is a component of the Fitzsimmons Creek watershed. Although bull trout were not captured in the Soo River, Rutherford Creek, Twentyone Mile Creek and Nineteen Mile Creek, the scope and duration of the study were far too limited to conclude that bull trout are not present in those areas. Additionally,



Carter and Semeniuk

rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) were captured in Twentyone Mile Creek, Nineteen Mile Creek, Blackcomb Creek, and Fitzsimmons Creek, and the Soo River.



Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Mr. Iain Lunn, of the Ministry of Water Land and Air Protection for providing us with this unique learning experience, advice, and the necessary equipment to complete this study. We are very grateful for this opportunity. Thank you Dr. Eric Taylor, Associate Director of the University of British Columbia Biodiversity Research Centre, for completing the DNA analysis of the tissue samples collected during this study.

We would also like to thank Mr. Bob Gunn of the British Columbia Institute of Technology for providing us with literature and guidance, especially during the initial phases of this project. Thank you Dr. Marvin Rosenau, Fisheries Management Instructor at the British Columbia Institute of Technology, for sharing all your expertise in report writing, we appreciated it very much. Thank you Mr. Rick Chester, Integrated Resources Management instructor at the British Columbia Institute of Technology for assisting us with the mapping component of this report. Finally, thank you Mr. Tom Saare, British Columbia Institute of Technology Assistant Instructor, for all your help in obtaining the endless list of equipment.



Table of Contents

Executive Summary	ii
Acknowledgements	iv
List of Figures	vii
List of Tables	viii
List of Appendices	ix
1.0 Introduction	1
1.1 Background	3
1.2 Objectives	4
2.0 Life History	5
2.1 Embryo	5
2.2 Alevin	5
2.3 Fry	5
2.4 Sub-Adult	6
2.5 Adult	6
2.6 Habitat Modification Sensitivity of Bull Trout	7
2.7 Spawning	7
2.8 Juvenile Bull Trout Rearing Habitat	8
2.9 Adult Bull Trout Habitat Requirements	8
3.0 Study Area Description	9
3.1 Sampling Area 1: Resort Municipality of Whistler	11
3.1.1 Nineteen Mile Creek	11
3.1.2 Twentyone Mile Creek	11
3.1.3 Blackcomb Creek	12
3.1.4 Fitzsimmons Creek	14
3.2 Area 2: District of Pemberton	15
3.2.1 Soo River	16
3.2.2 Rutherford Creek	16
4.0 Methods	18



4.1 Stream Selection	18
4.2 Distinguishing Features of Bull trout and Dolly Varden Char	18
4.3 Capture Techniques	20
4.3.1 Beach Seining	20
4.3.2 Minnow Trapping	20
4.3.3 Angling	21
4.4 Catch Per Unit Effort	22
4.5 DNA Collection	22
4.6 Materials	22
5.0 Results	24
6.0 Discussion	32
7.0 Recommendations	
8.0 References Cited	40
8.1 Personal Communication	43



List of Figures

Figure 1: Distribution of Dolly Varden char in British Columbia1
Figure 2: Distribution and status of bull trout in British Columbia streams
Figure 3: Adult bull trout7
Figure 4: Study area in relation to Vancouver, British Columbia9
Figure 5: Map of study area, including the six streams sampled10
Figure 6: Twentyone Mile Creek culvert beneath Rainbow Road
Figure 7:Sediment infilling of fish way baffles between Blackcomb Creek and
Lost Lake
Figure 8: Turbid water conditions in Fitzsimmons Creek
Figure 9: Crew member holding a piece of ice from Fitzsimmons Creek,
November 3, 2004
Figure 10: Length-Frequency Distribution of Bull Trout and Rainbow Trout
Captured in Blackcomb Creek29
Figure 11: Length-Frequency Distribution of Bull Trout and Rainbow Trout
Captured in Fitzsimmons Creek29
Figure 12: Length-Frequency of Rainbow Trout Captured in Nineteen Mile Creek.
Figure 13: Authorization by the Ministry of Water, Land and Air Protection to
angle with bait. Page 1 of 274
Figure 14: Authorization by the Ministry of Water, Land and Air Protection to
angle with bait. Page 2 of 275



List of Tables

Table 1: Number of Fish Captured Above and Below the Cascade in Blackcom	۱b
Creek	.13
Table 2: Beach seining catch per unit effort summary	.24
Table 3: Angling catch per unit effort summary	.24
Table 4: Stream temperatures as of November 3, 2004	.25
Table 5: Catch per unit effort of streams sampled	.26
Table 6: DNA Analysis of Tissue Collected	.27
Table 7: Fish captured, fork length, location of capture and date captured	.28
Table 8: Mean fork length of fish captured during the 2004/2005 bull trout	
presence/not detected study	.30



List of Appendices

Appendix A: Stream Site Descriptions	.44
Nineteen Mile Creek: Site 1	.45
Nineteen Mile Creek: Site 2	.46
Nineteen Mile Creek Site: 3	.47
Twentyone-Mile Creek: Site 1	.48
Twentyone-Mile Creek: Site 2	.49
Twentyone Mile Site 3	.50
Blackcomb Creek: Site 1	.51
Blackcomb Creek: Site 2	.52
Blackcomb Creek: Site 3	.53
Fitzsimmons Creek: Site 1	.54
Fitzsimmons Creek: Site 2	.55
Fitzsimmons Creek: Site 3	.56
Soo River: Site 1	.57
Soo River: Site 2	.58
Soo River: Site 3	.59
Rutherford Creek: Site 1	.60
Rutherford Creek: Site 2	.61
Rutherford Creek: Site 3	.62
Appendix B: Stream Site Cards	.63
Appendix C: Letter of Authorization	73



1.0 Introduction

Dolly Varden char (*Salvelinus malma malma*) were once believed to inhabit the coastal streams of British Columbia (Fig. 1), and it was assumed that bull trout only existed in British Columbia's interior watersheds. However, a study conducted in 1978 in Washington State disproved this theory and by 1980, it was widely accepted that these two separate species coexisted with each other in the coastal streams of Puget Sound (United States Fish and Wildlife Service, 1998).



Figure 1: Distribution of Dolly Varden char in British Columbia. Source: Ministry of Water, Land and Air Protection, 1999.



Bull trout belong to the char genus, and are currently a blue listed species¹ in British Columbia (Ministries of Sustainable Resource Management and Water, Land and Air Protection, 2002). Urban encroachment and habitat loss are two major factors that have contributed to the decline of bull trout populations throughout British Columbia. There are 198 watershed groups in British Columbia that contain confirmed bull trout populations (Fig. 2), of those, only 84 watersheds have bull trout populations that are presumed healthy². Another 69 watersheds in British Columbia have bull trout populations that are at conservation risk³ levels, or are at presumed conservation risk⁴ levels (Ministry of Water, Land and Air Protection, 2002).

The Ministry of Water, Land, and Air Protection is currently determining the distribution of bull trout in the coastal region of Southwestern British Columbia, especially the Sea to Sky corridor, an area in which bull trout distribution was unknown (Fish Wizard, 2004).

⁴ Current threats are believed to be significantly affecting the population and/or population is considered to be at risk (Ministry of Water, Land and Air Protection, 2002).



¹ Blue-listed species are at risk, but are not extirpated, endangered or threatened; particularly sensitive to human or natural disturbances (Ministry of Sustainable Resource Management, 2004).

²Viable for at least twenty years if no new threats are added to the watershed and either real data showing populations are healthy or absence of significant threats and known occurrence in watershed (Ministry of Water, Land and Air Protection, 2002).

³ Population is known to be in decline (data available) and threats are identified (Ministry of Water, Land and Air Protection, 2002).



Figure 2: Distribution and status of bull trout in British Columbia streams. Source: Ministry of Water, Land and Air Protection, 2002.

1.1 Background

In 2003/2004, students from the British Columbia Institute of Technology completed a bull trout presence study in eight selected streams between Furry Creek and Whistler, British Columbia (Harper et. al., 2004). This study provided data for the Ministry of Water Land and Air Protection that aided in determining the distribution of bull trout in the Sea to Sky corridor of British Columbia. The streams which were sampled included Thistle Creek, Daisy Creek, Shannon



Carter and Semeniuk

Creek, Stawamus River, Brohm River, Garibaldi Creek, and Unnamed Creek and Millar Creek. No bull trout were detected in any of the sampled streams upon completion of the study. At the request of the Ministry of Water, Land, and Air Protection, and in partnership with the British Columbia Institute of Technology the 2004/2005 bull trout presence/not detected study was conducted in six streams located between Whistler and Pemberton British Columbia, north of the 2003/2004 study.

1.2 Objectives

The objectives of this study were to:

- determine the presence of bull trout in six selected streams between Whistler and Pemberton, British Columbia, and
- collect tissue samples from all salmonid species captured, for DNA analysis at the University of British Columbia.

To ensure that juvenile bull trout were not misidentified in the field, tissue samples were collected from every captured fish belonging the salmonid family.



2.0 Life History

2.1 Embryo

Bull trout embryos are deposited in redds up to 25cm deep, where gravel substrate ranges from 6.25mm to 25.6mm in diameter. Gravel larger than 6.25mm in diameter within the spawning areas provides increased porosity around the redd. This allows a greater amount of water to pass through the gravel, into the redd and around the embryos. Bull trout embryo survival is optimal when the water temperature does not exceed 2°C. When water temperatures rise above 8°C, embryo survival is reduced by up to 75% (King County, 1999). Increased substrate porosity facilitates greater water flow around the embryo when dissolved oxygen levels are low due to cold water temperatures (Montana Fish, Wildlife and Parks, 2003).

2.2 Alevin

Embryos require an average of 271 accumulated thermal units (ATU's) in order for bull trout to emerge as alevin (Williamson, 2005). Bull trout alevin thrive in slightly elevated water temperatures in comparison to the cold water temperatures that they prefer in the embryonic stage; consequently, bull trout alevin absorb their yolk sacks slowly in the northern distributions in comparison to the southern distributions (Williamson, 2005).

2.3 Fry

Bull trout fry typically move from higher-gradient incubation areas to lowergradient rearing areas once they become free-swimming (United States Fish and Wildlife Service, 1998). At this stage, bull trout are largely insectivorous (Baxter and McPhail, 1996). The most limiting factor for bull trout fry survival is the absence of complex habitat with abundant overhanging and submerged cover (Montana Fish, Wildlife and Parks, 2003).



Carter and Semeniuk

2.4 Sub-Adult

Bull trout sub-adults are known to demonstrate four distinct life history forms:

- 1) Resident bull trout carry out their lifecycle in the stream in which it reared.
- Adfluvial bull trout rear in their natal stream for up to four years, at which time they migrate to a lake. Mature adfluvial bull trout only return to their natal streams in order to spawn.
- 3) Fluvial bull trout rear in their natal streams, then migrate to a larger river or stream upon reaching maturity.
- Anadromous bull trout occur in coastal streams that do not have migration barriers. They rear in their natal streams, but migrate to the ocean in order to mature (Fish Passage Center, 2004).

2.5 Adult

Adult bull trout (Fig. 3) may live for up to twelve years (Montana Fish, Wildlife and Parks, 2003). Adult fish are almost exclusively piscivorous and prey on other fish such as rainbow trout, cutthroat trout (*Oncorhynchus clarki*) and sculpins (*Cottus sp.)* (Montana Fish, Wildlife and Parks, 2003). Other species that bull trout predate on include salmon fry, whitefish (*Coregoninae sp.*) and other bull trout (Post and Johnston, 2002). Adult bull trout prefer areas with a gravel substrate size of 2-6cm, with less than 30% of the streambed being fine sediment (U.S. Army Corps Of Engineers, 2004). Limiting factors for adult bull trout populations include habitat degradation, poor water management practices, over harvesting and poaching (Montana Fish, Wildlife and Parks, 2003).





Figure 3: Adult bull trout. Source: Fish Passage Center, 2004.

2.6 Habitat Modification Sensitivity of Bull Trout

Bull trout have the most specific habitat requirements and are the most sensitive to a change of water quality out of all the salmonid species (Niemi, 2004). Due to specific habitat requirements of bull trout, rapid urbanization, road building, water extraction and logging have led to the decline of bull trout populations in the Pacific Northwest; only 44%-45% of the estimated historical bull trout population remains today (Niemi, 2004). Due to the sensitive habitat requirements of bull trout, it can be assumed that if a bull trout population thrives in a stream, then the stream can be considered to be healthy (Neimi, 2004).

2.7 Spawning

Bull trout are between four and five years old when they reach sexual maturity (Montana Fish, Wildlife and Parks, 2003). They prefer to spawn in cold and clear tributaries (Baxter and McPhail, 1996). Spawning generally takes place from late August to early November. Bull trout typically spawn in high gradient mountain streams, usually with a stream order of three or four (Montana Fish, Wildlife and Parks, 2003). Sexually mature bull trout will not spawn until the water temperature drops below 8°C; however, an optimum water temperature for spawning occurs between 4°C and 7°C (Baxter and McPhail, 1996). One female will dig a redd and attract up to five males to fertilize her eggs. Bull trout do not die after spawning, they may spawn every year or every other year (Nature Serve Explorer, 2005).



Carter and Semeniuk

2.8 Juvenile Bull Trout Rearing Habitat

Juvenile bull trout require cold, clean water. Optimum growth occurs below 13°C, and preferably between 4°C and 8°C (Baxter and McPhail, 1996). Young bull trout prefer habitat with complex cover, which includes coarse woody debris, streamside vegetation, large boulders and undercut banks (Platts and Partridge, 1983).

2.9 Adult Bull Trout Habitat Requirements

The habitat requirements of adult bull trout are generally similar to that of juvenile bull trout. However, as bull trout get larger, they move to areas with increased current velocities. Adult bull trout may be found in rivers, lakes and in some cases, marine environments (King County, 1999).



3.0 Study Area Description

The six streams sampled are located between Whistler and Pemberton in southwestern British Columbia, (Fig. 4). This area is located approximately 145km north of Vancouver B.C. and is accessible via Highway 99, which is also known as the 'Sea to Sky Highway'.



Figure 4: Study area in relation to Vancouver, British Columbia. The study area is outlined in yellow. Adapted from the Community mapping network, 2005.

The study area was stratified into two sampling areas based on their proximity to Whistler. Area 1 was located in the Resort Municipality of Whistler and consisted of Nineteen Mile Creek, Twentyone Mile Creek, Blackcomb Creek and Fitzsimmons Creek (Fig. 5). Area 2 was located south of the District of Pemberton, and contained Rutherford Creek and the Soo River (Fig. 5).





Figure 5: Map of study area, including the six streams sampled. Source: Rick Chester, British Columbia Institute of Technology, 2005.



3.1 Sampling Area 1: Resort Municipality of Whistler

The Resort Municipality of Whistler is situated in the valley between Blackcomb and Whistler Mountain, in the Coast Mountain Range, 123km north of Vancouver (eNorthern B.C., 2005). The elevation of the Resort Municipality of Whistler is 668m above sea level (Tourism Whistler Media Room, 2004). In 2001 the population of Whistler was 8896 (Statistics Canada, 2001). Whistler is a year round destination for outdoor enthusiasts. It receives 54% of its visitors in the summer months when the average temperature ranges between 9°C and 23°C. During the winter the average temperature falls between -8°C and 3°C (Tourism Whistler Media Room, 2004).

In area 1, Nineteen Mile Creek, Twentyone Mile Creek, Blackcomb Creek, and Fitzsimmons Creek were sampled. Each stream was assigned three sample sites (Appendix B). Each sample site was selected based on exhibiting bull trout habitat requirements.

3.1.1 Nineteen Mile Creek

Access to the sampling sites on Nineteen Mile Creek was via Alpine Way, east of Highway 99. Nineteen Mile Creek discharges into Green Lake. The only known obstruction to fish migration on this stream is a cascade located approximately 700m upstream of Alpine Way (Fish Wizard, 2004). Nineteen Mile Creek is a high gradient, fast flowing mountain creek in its upper reaches; however, below the Highway 99 crossing, it meanders through a mixed coniferous and deciduous forest. Nineteen Mile Creek has a stream order of 2 (Fish Wizard, 2004). The substrate in the lower reaches of the creek is dominated by cobbles (Appendix B).

3.1.2 Twentyone Mile Creek

Twentyone Mile Creek flows from Rainbow Lake downstream in a southeastern direction and discharges into Alta Creek. It is a cold, fast flowing mountain creek



Carter and Semeniuk

with a stream order 3 (Fish Wizard, 2004). A culvert under Rainbow Road may be an impassible barrier to upstream fish migration during high or low flow conditions (Fig.6). Cobbles and boulders dominate the substrate in Twentyone Mile Creek. A series of hiking and mountain biking trails have been constructed adjacent to Twentyone Mile Creek.



Figure 6: Twentyone Mile Creek culvert beneath Rainbow Road. Photo by Zac Semeniuk. April 8, 2004.

3.1.3 Blackcomb Creek

Blackcomb Creek has a stream order of 2, and is a tributary of Fitzsimmons Creek (Fish Wizard, 2004). This creek flows through the Fairmont Hotel golf course and is accessible from Lost Lake Park. The riparian vegetation surrounding the creek is composed primarily of Pacific willow (*Salix lasiandra*), devils club (*Oplopanax horridus*) and western red cedar (*Thuja plicata*).



Carter and Semeniuk

Blackcomb Creek has an abundance of pool/riffle habitat (Appendix B). In addition, Blackcomb Creek has an abundance of large woody debris in the stream channel (Appendix B). The substrate is dominated by cobbles, and fine particles. A fish way has been installed in Blackcomb Creek, which aids fish to bypass a cascade. Fish may swim up Blackcomb Creek, and through an off-channel that connects Blackcomb Creek with Lost Lake. Fish may then exit Lost Lake adjacent to where they entered it via the fish way, and return to Blackcomb Creek above the cascade. Due to sediment infilling, this passage appears to be impassible to adults and juveniles, because several of the fish way baffles are buried in the substrate (Fig. 7). Water does not flow over the baffles during low flow conditions, which is likely restricting fish access to the upper reaches of the stream (Fig.7). There were 400% more fish captured below the cascade than above the cascade, which may indicate that the fish ladder is a migratory barrier (Table 1).

Table 1: Number of Fish Captured Above and Below the Cascade inBlackcomb Creek.

Type of Fish Captured	ype of FishCaptured AboveapturedCascade	
Bull Trout	0	1
Rainbow Trout	1	3
Total	1	4





Figure 7:Sediment infilling of fish way baffles between Blackcomb Creek and Lost Lake. Photo by Jen Carter. April 6, 2005.

3.1.4 Fitzsimmons Creek

Fitzsimmons Creek is accessible from Mons Road, east of Highway 99. The banks of the creek have been armored with riprap to provide erosion protection. The vegetation surrounding the creek is composed largely of willow (*Salix sp.*) and red alder (*Alnus rubra*). Fitzsimmons Creek has a stream order of 3 (Fish Wizard, 2004). The headwaters of Fitzsimmons Creek are located at the Fitzsimmons Glacier on Blackcomb Mountain, 17.96km away from its outlet on the south side of Green Lake (Fish Wizard, 2004). Fitzsimmons Creek was turbid throughout the duration of the study (Fig. 8). The substrate of Fitzsimmons Creek is dominated by cobbles and fine particles. There were moderate amounts of large woody debris located in the stream channel (Appendix B).



Carter and Semeniuk



Figure 8: Turbid water conditions in Fitzsimmons Creek. Photo by Zac Semeniuk. November 20, 2004.

3.2 Area 2: District of Pemberton

Pemberton is a small community with a population of 1637 (Industry Canada, 2004). The main industrial activities are logging, ranching and farming; however, tourism is becoming increasingly important to Pemberton's economy (Beautiful B.C. Network, 2004). Pemberton is located approximately 155km north of Vancouver (eNorthern B.C., 2005). The Soo River and Rutherford Creek are tributaries of the Green River, which flows out of the north end of Green Lake and continues northward to Pemberton.

In area 2, the Soo River and Rutherford Creek were sampled. Each stream was assigned three sample sites (Appendix B). Each sample site was selected based on exhibiting bull trout habitat requirements.



Carter and Semeniuk

3.2.1 Soo River

The Soo River is located between Whistler and Pemberton British Columbia. It is 45.84km in length from its headwaters near the Pemberton ice fields, to the confluence with the Green River (Fish Wizard, 2004). The Soo River has a stream order of 4 (Fish Wizard, 2004).

The Soo River canyon is home to an Independent Power Project, approximately 10km upstream from the confluence with the Green River (Fish Wizard, 2004). Despite the high water event in October 2003, there was an abundance coarse woody debris observed in several of the pools in the lower reaches of the river (Appendix B). There are deep pools in the lower reaches in which the substrate is dominated by boulders, cobbles and gravel (Appendix B).

3.2.2 Rutherford Creek

The headwater to Rutherford Creek originates at the Pemberton ice fields, 26.67km from the confluence with the Green River (Fish Wizard, 2004). Rutherford Creek has a stream order of 3 (Fish Wizard, 2004).

Rutherford Creek suffered extensively from flooding that occurred in October 2003, which washed out the Whistler-Pemberton Highway bridge and the BCR railway bridge (Burke, 2003). During reconnaissance, we observed a stream channel that was extremely scoured. Boulders dominated the substrate; however, there were trace amounts of coarse woody debris and cobbles observed throughout the three sites that were sampled. Pool and riffle habitat was observed exclusively in site 1 and 2 (Appendix A).

Below the Highway bridge, boulders dominate the substrate in Rutherford Creek. In addition to this, the creek bed has been channelized to accommodate the construction of the new Highway 99 bridge and Railway bridge, in conjunction with the bank stabilization work (Fig. 10).



Carter and Semeniuk



Figure 10: Construction occurring within the Rutherford Creek channel. Photo by Zac Semeniuk. November 3, 2004.



4.0 Methods

4.1 Stream Selection

During stream selection, the following criteria were considered:

- Deep pool habitat which remains connected to the main channel during low water flow conditions
- Large woody debris present in the stream channel
- Logjams present in the stream channel
- Streamside vegetation
- Stream order >2
- Cobble or gravel substrate
- Convenient road access

The Soo River and Rutherford Creek were sampled at the request of the Ministry of Water, Land and Air Protection.

Preference was given to streams that drained glaciers because it was likely that glacial melt water would remain colder than the 15°C, which is a requirement for a resident bull trout population, during the warmest months of the year (Baxter and McPhail, 1996). Once the streams were selected, sample sites were established wherever the most complex habitat existed.

4.2 Distinguishing Features of Bull trout and Dolly Varden Char

Bull trout are commonly misidentified as Dolly Varden char because they are similar in appearance (Fig. 11). The morphological distinction between bull trout



Carter and Semeniuk

and Dolly Varden char was only confirmed in 1991 (Post and Johnston, 2002). When identifying char species the following features were noted.

Adult bull trout identification features (Post and Johnston, 2002):

- Large head with a large pointed mouth
- Extended upper jaw bone that appears to curve downward
- Dorsal fin has no defined black spots or markings
- White colored leading edge on anal and pelvic fins
- Sides and back may have pale yellow-orange round spots on them
- Slightly forked caudal fin
- Inner margin of the mouth has short gill rakers with strong teeth

Adult Dolly Varden char features that differ from bull trout features:

- Smaller pale yellow-orange spots on sides and back which are spread further apart than those on bull trout (BC Fish Facts, 1999)
- The inner margin of the mouth has long gill rakers that lack teeth (Post and Johnston, 2002)
- Shorter upper jaw bone that appears straight (Haas, unknown)



Figure 11: Dolly Varden char (top) and bull trout (bottom). Source: Post and Johnston, 2002.



4.3 Capture Techniques

4.3.1 Beach Seining

Beach seining was conducted in the Soo River and Rutherford Creek. Nineteen Mile Creek, Twentyone Mile Creek, Blackcomb Creek and Fitzsimmons Creek were not seined because the stream channels were small, shallow and contained boulders, and large woody debris, which made the stream channel irregular in depth and difficult to seine.

The following steps were carried out while attempting to capture fish using a 10m juvenile seine net:

One end of the net was firmly anchored to the shore. One crew member held the middle of the seine net while the other crew member held the free end of the net. The seine net was then stretched across the sample site, perpendicular to the current. Slowly, the free end of the seine net was brought down the stream with the current by one crew member, ensuring that the lead line remained in contact with the stream substrate at all times. The other crew member positioned the middle of the net so the entire juvenile seine net formed a semi-circle. Finally, both ends of the seine net were beached, at which time the lead line was slowly gathered and brought onto the shore. The crew members would carefully observe the area surrounded by the net for trapped fish while it was brought into the shore.

4.3.2 Minnow Trapping

At each site, three Gee-40 type minnow traps were used. During the first trapping session, the Gee-40 minnow traps were baited with dry and canned cat food and soaked for 6 hours at each site. This method was unsuccessful,



Carter and Semeniuk

subsequently, the bait was changed to salmon roe and a 24 hour soak time was implemented.

Each minnow trap was baited with approximately 15g of roe salmon roe, which was tied into a golf ball sized bag using nylon panty hose. One bait bag was fastened to the top of each minnow trap prior to setting it. Traps were set in the early morning and retrieved the following morning in the same order they were placed. In sites with fast flowing water or if there was a possibility of rain in the forecast, cobbles were placed inside the traps to serve as anchors in order to weigh the traps down. Anchoring the traps reduced the chance of trap loss during high water conditions. In addition, the traps were secured to a stationary object on the shore using a 1/8in nylon rope.

4.3.3 Angling

Angling was used as a fish capture method in the following streams:

- Twentyone Mile Creek
- Rutherford Creek
- Soo River

A Shakespeare spincasting rod and reel loaded with 6lb test mainline, and a centerpin reel loaded with 12lb mainline, paired with a Sage 2106MB were used to angle for adult bull trout. The set up consisted of a 3in dink float, 1/3oz of lead, a size 14 black barrel swivel and a red size 6 Gamakatsu octopus hook attached to 24in of 4lb P-line CFX fluorocarbon line. Extremely light gear was required in all of the creeks angled due to clear water conditions.

Small pieces of fresh salmon roe were used as bait, as per the Letter of Authorization from Mr. Iain Lunn, of the Ministry of Water, Land and Air Protection (Appendix C). Angling sessions lasted for exactly one hour at each sample site.



Carter and Semeniuk

4.4 Catch Per Unit Effort

Catch per unit effort was calculated for each fish capture method used. Minnow trapping units were based on a 24 hour soak day. Minnow traps were soaked for 6 hours each initially because each trap would denote 1/4 of a unit.

4.5 DNA Collection

Due to the similar characteristics of Dolly Varden char and bull trout, field identification of any char captured at the sample sites could only be reliable to the genus. In order to identify the char to species, tissue samples were collected for DNA analysis. DNA was collected using two methods:

- 1) fish under 50mm were retained;
- fish over 50mm had a minimum of 25mm² of their right pelvic fins removed and stored in a vile containing a 95% concentration of ethyl alcohol.

Captured fish were transferred into a 20L bucket in order to be identified and measured. Pelvic fins were removed using hemostats and scissors. The fish were then placed into a bucket where they were allowed to recover from the handling process prior to being released back into the stream at the same location that they were captured.

4.6 Materials

The following materials were used for beach seining:

- 10m juvenile seine net
- 2 x 20L buckets
- Minnow dip net

The following materials were used for minnow trapping:

- Gee-40 minnow traps
- 1/8in nylon rope
- Salmon roe



Carter and Semeniuk

- Dry and canned cat food
- Flagging tape
- Laminated trap identification tags
- Nylon panty hose
- 2 x 20L buckets
- Minnow dip net

The following materials were used to collect DNA:

- 2.5ml vials
- 95% concentration ethyl alcohol
- Hemostats
- Scissors
- 2 x 20L buckets
- Fish measuring board



5.0 Results

Beach seining (Table 2) and angling efforts (Table 3) were ineffective, which may indicate that fish density is low. Moreover, there were no fish recaptured, which would have facilitated a population estimate calculation of a specific reach. The sample size was too small in order to formulate a conclusion regarding the population size or density with a reasonable degree of confidence. Nevertheless, cold water conditions may have made the fish lethargic, which may explain the low catch per unit effort of angling, seining and minnow trapping. On November 3, 2005, each of the six streams had water temperatures below 5°C (Table 4). The low velocity areas of Blackcomb Creek, Fitzsimmons Creek, Nineteen Mile Creek and Twentyone Mile Creek began to freeze on or about November 3, 2004 (Fig.9).

Stream	Number of Seine Sets	Number of Fish Captured	Catch Per Unit Effort
Rutherford Creek	36	0	0.0
Soo River	36	0	0.0
Total	72	0	0.0

Table 2: Beach seining catch pe	er unit effort summary.
---------------------------------	-------------------------

Stream	Rod Hours	Number of Fish Captured	Catch Per Unit Effort
Rutherford Creek	30	0	0.0
Soo River	30	0	0.0
Twentyone Mine	24	0	0.0
Creek			
Total	84	0	0.0

Table 3: Angling catch per unit effort summary.



Table 4: Stream temperatures as of November 3, 2004. All Temperatures were measured with an alcohol thermometer. Tenths of degrees were recorded by best estimation

Stream	Temperature (°C)
Soo River	3.6
Rutherford Creek	3.1
Fitzsimmons Creek	2.7
Twentyone Mile Creek	2.5
Blackcomb Creek	2.4
Nineteen Mile Creek	1.9



Figure 9: Crew member holding a piece of ice from Fitzsimmons Creek, November 3, 2004. Photo By Jen Carter

A total of sixteen salmonids were captured over the duration of the study (Table 5). All of the fish were captured in minnow traps. The catch per unit effort of the



minnow traps remained consistently low throughout the study (Table 5). One bull trout was captured in Fitzsimmons Creek, while one bull trout was captured in Blackcomb Creek (Table 6). A total of fourteen rainbow trout were captured in Blackcomb Creek, Fitzsimmons Creek, Nineteen Mile Creek the Soo River and Twentyone Mile Creek (Table 6).

Stream	Total Minnow Trap Soak Time in Hours	Number of Fish Captured	Catch Per Unit Effort
Blackcomb Creek	810	5	0.148
Fitzsimmons Creek	810	4	0.119
Nineteen Mile Creek	810	5	0.148
Twentyone Mile Creek	810	1	0.030
Rutherford Creek	437	0	0
Soo River	437	1	0.055
Total	4114	16	0.093

Table 5: Catch per unit effort of streams sampled. Catch per unit effort isbased on a 24 soak day.



Sample	Site	Date	01	Species		Fork Length
#	#	(dd/mm/yy)	Stream	Field ID	Species DNA Result	(mm)
1	3	3/11/04	Blackcomb Cr.	Rb	Rb (gh7-57)	47
2	1	10/11/04	Blackcomb Cr.	char	Bt (gh7-51,Fok223)	115
3	1	3/11/04	Blackcomb Cr.	Rb	Rb (gh7-57)	119
4	1	21/11/04	Blackcomb Cr.	Rb	Rb (gh7-57)	93
5	1	21/11/04	Blackcomb Cr.	Rb	Rb (gh7-57)	109
6	3	3/11/04	Nineteen Mile Cr.	Rb	Rb (gh7-57)	48
7	2	3/11/04	Nineteen Mile Cr.	Rb	Rb (gh7-57)	87
8	3	10/11/04	Nineteen Mile Cr.	Rb	Rb (gh7-57)	95
9	2	21/11/04	Nineteen Mile Cr.	Rb	Rb (gh7-57)	51
10	2	10/11/04	Nineteen Mile Cr.	Rb	Rb (gh7-57)	59
11	3	3/11/04	Fitzsimmons Cr.	Rb	Rb (gh7-57)	71
12	1	21/11/04	Fitzsimmons Cr.	char	Bt (gh7-51, Fok223)	117
13	1	10/11/04	Fitzsimmons Cr.	Rb	Rb (gh7-57)	76
14	1	10/11/04	Fitzsimmons Cr.	Rb	Rb (gh7-57)	108
15	1	21/11/04	Twentyone Mile Cr.	Rb	Rb (gh7-57)	101
16	1	3/11/04	Soo River	Rb	Rb (gh7-57)	112

Table 6: DNA Analysis of Ti	issue Collected.
-----------------------------	------------------

None of the fish captured had an absence of tissue from the right pelvic fin, indicating that there were not any recaptured fish. In addition, eleven sculpins were captured in Twentyone Mile Creek. There were no fish captured in Rutherford Creek during the study; however, this does not indicate an absence of fish in Rutherford Creek.

The majority of the rainbow trout captured throughout the study were found in Blackcomb Creek, Nineteen Mile Creek and Fitzsimmons Creek (Table 7). Similarly, the two bull trout, which were captured over the duration of the study, were found in Blackcomb Creek and Fitzsimmons Creek (Table 7). Generally, the fish found in Fitzsimmons Creek and Blackcomb Creek had a fairly consistent fork length distribution; however, the fish from Blackcomb Creek had a more evenly distributed fork length frequency (Fig. 10) in comparison to the fork length frequency distribution of the fish captured in Fitzsimmons Creek (Fig. 11). The fish found in Nineteen Mile Creek appeared to be smaller than other fish


captured in nearby streams (Fig. 12). Fish from Nineteen Mile Creek had the smallest average fork length of 68mm, while the fish sampled from Fitzsimmons Creek had the second smallest average fork length of 93mm. Additionally, the fish that were captured in Blackcomb Creek had the largest average fork length of 96.6mm (Table 8). Average fork lengths were obtained by calculating the mean fork length of a minimum of four samples.

Sample #	Stream	Sample Site #	Type of Fish	Fork Length	Date Captured
			Captured	millimete	(dd/mm/yy)
				rs	•
1	Blackcomb Cr.	3	Rb	47	3/11/04
2	Blackcomb Cr.	1	Bt	115	10/11/04
3	Blackcomb Cr.	1	Rb	119	3/11/04
4	Blackcomb Cr.	1	Rb	93	21/11/04
5	Blackcomb Cr.	1	Rb	109	21/11/04
6	Nineteen Mile Cr.	3	Rb	48	3/11/04
7	Nineteen Mile Cr.	2	Rb	87	3/11/04
8	Nineteen Mile Cr.	3	Rb	95	10/11/04
9	Nineteen Mile Cr.	2	Rb	51	21/11/04
10	Nineteen Mile Cr.	2	Rb	59	10/11/04
11	Fitzsimmons Cr.	3	Rb	71	3/11/04
12	Fitzsimmons Cr.	1	Bt	117	21/11/04
13	Fitzsimmons Cr.	1	Rb	76	10/11/04
14	Fitzsimmons Cr.	1	Rb	108	10/11/04
15	Twentyone Mile	1	Rb	101	21/11/04
	Cr.				
16	Soo River	1	Rb	112	3/11/04
	Total		2 x Bt 14 x Bb		

Table 7: Fish captured	, fork length, location	of capture and	date captured
------------------------	-------------------------	----------------	---------------





Figure 10: Length-Frequency Distribution of Bull Trout and Rainbow Trout Captured in Blackcomb Creek. N=5



Figure 11: Length-Frequency Distribution of Bull Trout and Rainbow Trout Captured in Fitzsimmons Creek. N=4.





Figure 12: Length-Frequency of Rainbow Trout Captured in Nineteen Mile Creek. N=5.

Table 8: Mean fork length of fish captured during the 2004/2005 bull trout
presence/not detected study. Minimum N=4.

Stream	Mean Fork Length (mm)
Nineteen Mile Creek	68
Fitzsimmons Creek	93
Blackcomb Creek	96.6



The of the two bull trout sampled were captured in the Fitzsimmons Creek watershed; sample 2 was obtained from Blackcomb Creek, while sample 12 was from Fitzsimmons Creek. Both of these streams drain glaciated areas: the Fitzsimmons Glacier and the Blackcomb Glacier. Each bull trout was captured in an area that had trace to moderate amounts of large woody debris and overhanging streamside vegetation (Appendix B). The riparian areas of Blackcomb Creek and Fitzsimmons Creek contained mixed stands of coniferous and deciduous trees and shrubs (Appendix B).



6.0 Discussion

Rutherford Creek was subject extensive flood damage in October 2003. Extremely heavy rainfall inundated the southwestern coast of British Columbia, and caused flood damage in several communities (The Updater, 2003). Many rivers in southwestern British Columbia reached water levels that may only be recorded once every century. Although there is no hydrometric data for Rutherford Creek, or the Soo River, the hydrographs for the Lillooet River, north of the study area, (Fig. 13) and the Squamish River, south of the study area, (Fig. 14) indicate that the water levels were the highest in recorded history (Fig. 15) (Fig. 16).



Figure 13: Hydrograph and discharge level of the Lillooet River near Pemberton. Period for October 2003. Source: Environment Canada, 2005.





Figure 14: Hydrograph and discharge level of the Squamish River near Brackendale. Period between October 1, 2003 and October 31, 2003. Source: Environment Canada, 2005.



Figure 15: Daily discharge of the Lillooet River from 1914 to 2003. Maximum, minimum and mean discharge statistics correspond to data recorded between 1914 and 2001. Source: Environment Canada, 2005.





Figure 16: Maximum, minimum, and mean daily discharge of the Squamish River from 1922 to 2003. Maximum, minimum and mean discharge statistics correspond to data recorded between 1922 and 2001. Source: Environment Canada, 2005.

Rutherford Creek exhibits hard-bed channel characteristics; therefore there is little lateral movement of the stream channel (Appendix B). The hard-bed channel is highly resistant to degradation and weathering, which results in minimal creation off channel habitat for fish. Furthermore, during high water events, adult and juvenile fish are likely confined to the main channel of hard-bed streams, where the current velocity is the greatest in comparison to off channel habitat. Although the channel in lower reaches of the Soo River is far less restricted in terms of lateral channel movement when compared to Rutherford Creek, the channel still exhibits hard-bed characteristics (Appendix B). Due to the minimal off channel habitat that exists, which may provide refuge for fish during the flood event of October 2003 (Appendix B), it is possible that fish residing or rearing in Rutherford Creek or the Soo River were flushed out of these streams and pushed directly into the Green River, then possibly pushed over Narin falls and eventually into the Lillooet River or Lillooet Lake. This may



Carter and Semeniuk

explain the low catch per unit effort in both of these systems. In addition, this flood event likely changed the stream substrate composition, morphology, streamside vegetation and large woody debris accumulation. If this is the case, it may take several years for fish residing in Green Lake to exit the lake, and spawn or carry out part or all of their life history in the Green River tributaries located above Narin Falls.

The sampling sites on the Soo River were host to some of the most complex habitat in area 2, yet only one fish was captured between all three of the sample sites. Overhanging streamside vegetation, large woody debris, large boulders and deep pools were all features that could be readily observed in the lower reaches of the Soo River (Appendix B). The low catch per unit effort in the Soo River is perplexing due to the level of complex habitat that is present (Appendix B).

Approximately 450m downstream of the Highway 99 bridge, Nineteen Mile Creek had cut a channel over an embankment, which resulted in the creation of a cascade that measures 0.7m in height during low flow conditions. This may serve as a barrier to juvenile and some adult salmonids. This cascade may limit the available habitat for that exists in Nineteen Mile Creek, thus reducing the carrying capacity of the creek. However, there was detritus and large woody debris present in the new channel, which may provide nutrients for aquatic vertebrates and invertebrates further downstream.

This study took place at a time when fish activity is low due to their decreased metabolic rate, which is induced by cold-water conditions (Table 4). Electrofishing was not a feasible method of fish capture over the duration of the study. The increased amount of voltage required to effectively capture fish throughout the cold water conditions encountered would have been fatal to embryos and alevin which may be present within the substrate of the stream



Carter and Semeniuk

(Fisheries and Aquaculture Extension Program, 2001). To compound this limitation, the fish capture sessions did not overlap with the out migration of juvenile salmonids from their natal streams. Additionally, the fish capture component of the study only marginally overlapped with adult bull trout spawning times, which provided a very limited time frame in which capturing adult bull trout would have been possible. The fall and spring school semesters in which this study was conducted during inadvertently bound the sampling sessions to late fall and early winter.

During a fish presence survey in the Rocky Reach Reservoir in Washington State, the catch per unit effort of salmonids captured in fyke nets increased by approximately 300% in May when compared to the catch per unit effort in October (Duke Engineering, 2001). It would be reasonable to assume that the catch per unit effort in this study would increase if sampling efforts took place during spring, summer or early fall. Although the fieldwork component of this study was conducted at a time of year that was not conducive to capturing maximum amounts of salmonids, two bull trout were still captured. If the study was carried out throughout the late spring until the early fall, the catch per unit effort may rise along with the total number of bull trout captured. In addition, adult bull trout, returning to their natal streams in order to spawn from August to November may be intercepted by angling, seining, and electrofishing or by a fish fence.

In subsequent years of the bull trout presence/not detected study, future students of the British Columbia Institute of Technology Fish, Wildlife and Recreation Program could begin sampling at the beginning of September and conclude the fieldwork by the beginning of December. Alternatively, students could commence fieldwork at the beginning of February and conclude the study at the beginning of April. Both of these options may result in a higher catch per unit effort, but limitations such as volatile weather, unsafe highway conditions, school



Carter and Semeniuk

sponsored fieldwork, ongoing assignments and tests could hinder the completion of the study. Moreover, both of the previously outlined sampling schedules do not fall directly into a time frame, which would allow for maximum fish trapping efficiency.



7.0 Recommendations

In order to clearly understand the distribution of bull trout between Whistler and Pemberton, British Columbia, we recommend that further stream inventories, including habitat assessment and mapping be completed. Furthermore, an assessment of bull trout limiting factors such as rapid urban encroachment into fish habitat, road building, poor water use practices and logging within the Green Lake watershed should be completed.

We recommend that current fish stocking programs be evaluated and proceed with caution in order to avoid possible increased interspecific competition. In Alberta, bull trout populations have been shown to exhibit reduced growth and survival rates, and in some cases, bull trout populations have been extirpated as a direct result of increased interspecific competition due to the introduction of non-native fish species (Post and Johnston, 2002).

Since bull trout are sensitive to over fishing, compromised water quality, habitat fragmentation and degradation, their presence must be confirmed in the watersheds between Whistler and Pemberton, British Columbia, especially within the Green Lake watershed. Greater road accessibility, increased angling pressure, Highway 99 construction and upgrades in preparation for the 2010 Winter Olympic Games, and rapid urban development all pose risks to anadromous and non-anadromous bull trout, which may carry out part or, all of their life history in the streams between Whistler and Pemberton, British Columbia.

It would be advantageous to determine bull trout presence within the Green Lake watershed prior major development in preparation for the 2010 Winter Olympic Games. If bull trout presence is confirmed within the streams that may be affected by the modification of Highway 99 or other construction, more stringent



Carter and Semeniuk

guidelines could be adhered to in order to mitigate the risk of bull trout habitat fragmentation, alteration, disruption or destruction.

To understand the population size, composition, and distribution of bull trout in the Green Lake watershed, stream and lake sampling must be conducted on a yearly basis from late winter until late fall. Specifically in the Fitzsimmons Creek watershed, important bull trout habitat must be identified, which should include, but not be limited to:

- key spawning areas, and
- juvenile rearing areas.

Additionally, a population estimate of resident bull trout populations that utilize the Fitzsimmons Creek watershed should be completed. Annual adfluvial and fluvial adult bull trout spawner escapement should be completed within the Fitzsimmons Creek watershed. Furthermore, the annual recruitment of bull trout juveniles from the Fitzsimmons Creek watershed to Green Lake should be completed. Installing a fish fence in the main channel Fitzsimmons Creek would facilitate the previously outlined numeration.

In addition, if bull trout presence is confirmed, habitat restoration or enhancement work could be accomplished by providing overhanging vegetation, optimal spawning substrate, functional large woody debris, artificially created pools and riffle habitat, and by modifying fish migration barriers to mitigate habitat fragmentation or loss.

We recommend that more sampling be completed within the study area in the future in order to further determine bull trout distribution. A combination of limited time to conduct the study coupled with low stream temperatures may have resulted in a lower than normal catch per unit effort of bull trout.



Carter and Semeniuk

8.0 References Cited

- Baxter, J.S., and J.D. Mc Phail. 1996. Bull Trout Spawning and Rearing Habitat Requirements: Summary of the Literature. British Columbia: Ministry of Environment Fisheries Branch, Lands and Parks.
- BC Fish Facts: Dolly Varden. 1999. B.C. Fish Facts. Conservation. Section, Fish Management Branch, B.C. Ministry of Water, Water, Land and Air Protection. Fish. 2pp.
- Beautiful B.C. Network. 2004. Vancouver Coast & Mountains. [Webpage] ">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M>">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M>">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M>">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M>">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M>">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M>">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M>">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M>">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M>">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M>">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M>">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M>">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M>">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M>">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M>">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M>">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M">http://www.beautifulbc.net/region.asp?id=Vancouver+C+%26+M">http://www.beautifulbc.net/regi
- Burke, David. 2003. Whistler-Pemberton Link Re-established. Whistler Question. Whistler Printing and Publishing.
- Community Mapping Network. 2004. [Webpage] <<u>http://www.shim.bc.ca/</u>>. Accessed 2005 November 10.
- Duke Engineering and Services. 2001. Rocky Reach Fish Presence and Habitat Use Survey. Chelan County Power.
- Environment Canada. 2005. Hydrographs for the Squamish and Lillooet Rivers. [Webpage] < <u>http://scitech.pyr.ec.gc.ca/waterweb/formnav.asp?lang=0</u>>. Accessed 2005 March 23.
- eNorthern B.C. 2005. Distance Chart. [Webpage] <<u>http://www.enorthernbc.com/Distance-Chart.asp</u>>. Accessed 2005 April 7
- Fish Passage Center. 2004. [Webpage]. <<u>http://www.fpc.org/bulltrout/bulltrout_home.html</u>>. Accessed 2004 April 7.
- Fish Wizard. 2004. [Webpage] <<u>www.fishwizard.com></u>. Accessed 2004 November 2.
- Fisheries and Aquaculture Extension Program. 2001. Electrofishing: Theory, Safety and Uses-Participant Manual. Malaspina University College, Nanaimo, B.C.: 1.5 Ed.



- Harper, D., Shepherd, B., and Madu, B. 2004. Determining the Presence of Bull Trout Within the Sea to Sky Corridor 2003/2004. British Columbia Institute of Technology.
- Industry Canada. 2004. Community Demographics. [Webpage] <<u>http://broadband.gc.ca/pub/index.html</u>>. Accessed 2004 November 28.
- King County. 1999. Ecology of Bull Trout. [Web Page] <<u>http://www.metrokc.gov/exec/esa/ecobulltrout.htm</u>>. Accessed 2004 November 3.
- Ministries of Sustainable Resource Management and Water, Land and Air Protection. 2004 [Webpage] B.C. Ecosystems Explorer <<u>http://srmwww.gov.bc.ca/atrisk/toolintro.html</u>>. Accessed 2004 November 10.
- Ministry of Water Land and Air Protection. 2002. Conservation Risk to Bull Trout in British Columbia. [Webpage] http://wlapwww.gov.bc.ca/soerpt/4fish/trout.htm>. Accessed 2004 November 28.
- Montana Fish, Wildlife and Parks. 2003. Animal Field Guide: Bull Trout. [Webpage] <<u>http://fwp.state.mt.us/fieldguide/detail_AFCHA05020.aspx</u>>. Accessed 2004 November 3.
- Nature Serve Comprehensive Report. 2005. [Webpage] <<u>http://srmapps.gov.bc.ca/apps/eswp/reports.do?index=0</u>>. Accessed 2004 April 7.
- Niemi, Sarah. 2004. Bull Trout. [Webpage] <<u>http://www.landscouncil.org/selkirks/BullTroutinfo.htm</u>>. Accessed 2004 November 3.
- Platts, William S., and Fred E. Partridge. 1983. Inventory of Salmon, Steelhead Trout, and Bull Trout: South Fork Salmon River, Idaho. Ogden, Utah: United States Department of Agriculture.
- Post, J. R. and F. D. Johnston. 2002. Status of the Bull Trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*) in Alberta. Alberta Sustainable Resource Development, Fish and Wildlife Division, and Alberta Conservation Association, Wildlife Status Report No. 39, Edmonton, AB. 40 pp



- Statistics Canada. 2001. Community Profiles. [Webpage] <<u>http://www12.statcan.ca/english/Profil01/PlaceSearchForm1.cfm</u>>. Accessed 2004 November 28.
- Media Room. 2004. Tourism Whistler Media Room. [Webpage] <<u>http://www.mediaroom.tourismwhistler.com/facts_stats/statistics.asp</u>>. Accessed 2004 November 28.
- The Updater. 2003. When Disaster Strikes-The Community Pulls Together and the Heart and Spirit Shines. Squamish Chamber of Commerce, Vol. 2, Issue 9. Squamish B.C.
- U.S. Army Corps OF Engineers. 2004. Bull Trout Habitat Requirements. [Webpage] <<u>http://www.nww.usace.army.mil/salmonriver/bulltrout.htm</u>>. Accessed 2004 November 3.
- United States Fish and Wildlife Service. 1998. Bull Trout Facts (Salvenius confluentus). [PDF File] <<u>http://www.r1.fws.gov/news/bulltrout/bultrt2.pdf</u>>. Accessed 2004 November 3.



8.1 Personal Communication

Cory J. Williamson (personal communication, May 11, 2005) verified this.



Appendix A: Stream Site Descriptions



Nineteen Mile Creek: Site 1

- UTM Coordinates: E 503165 N 5555224
- Substrate: Gravel and fine
- Cover: Large woody debris, small woody debris, overhanging banks



Figure 18: Nineteen Mile Creek site 1. April 8, 2004. Photo by Jen Carter.



Nineteen Mile Creek: Site 2

- UTM Coordinates: E 503134 N 5555200
- Substrate: Fine and cobbles
- Cover: Large woody debris, small woody debris



Figure 19: Nineteen Mile Creek site 2. April 8, 2004. Photo by Zac Semeniuk.



Nineteen Mile Creek Site: 3

- UTM Coordinates: E 503015 N 5555215
- Substrate: Fine and gravel
- Cover: Large woody debris, small woody debris, overhanging banks



Figure 20: Nineteen Mile Creek Site 3. April 8, 2004. Photo by Zac Semeniuk.



Twentyone-Mile Creek: Site 1

- UTM Coordinates: E 501206 N 5552972
- Substrate: Boulders and cobbles
- Cover: Large woody debris, small woody debris, overhanging banks, boulders



Figure 21: Twentyone Mile Creek site 1. April 8, 2004. Photo by Zac Semeniuk.



Twentyone-Mile Creek: Site 2

- UTM Coordinates: E 501192 N 5552966
- Substrate: Boulders and cobbles
- Cover: Large woody debris, boulders



Figure 22: Twentyone Mile Creek site 2. April 8, 2004. Photo by Zac Semeniuk.



Twentyone Mile Site 3

- UTM Coordinates: E 501063 N 555.087
- Substrate: Cobbles and boulders
- Cover: Large woody debris, small woody debris, boulders, overhanging vegetation



Figure 23: Twentyone Mile Creek site 3. April 8, 2004. Photo by Jen Carter.



Blackcomb Creek: Site 1

- UTM Coordinates: E 504401 N 5552526
- Substrate: Cobbles and gravel
- Cover: Large woody debris, boulders, small woody debris, overhanging banks, deep pools



Figure 24: Blackcomb Creek Site 1. Photo by Zac Semeniuk.



Blackcomb Creek: Site 2

- UTM Coordinates: E 504522 N 5552642
- Substrate: Boulders and cobbles
- Cover: Large woody debris, boulders, small woody debris



Figure 25: Blackcomb Creek site 2. November 10, 2004. Photo by Zac Semeniuk.



Blackcomb Creek: Site 3

- UTM Coordinates: E 504590 N 5552614
- Substrate: Boulders and cobbles
- Cover: Large woody debris, boulders



Figure 26: Blackcomb Creek site 3. November 10, 2004. Photo by Jen Carter.



Fitzsimmons Creek: Site 1

- UTM Coordinates: E 503471 N 5553680
- Substrate: Boulders and cobbles
- Cover: Small woody debris, overhanging streamside vegetation



Figure 27: Fitzsimmons Creek site 1. November 10, 2004. Photo by Jen Carter.



Fitzsimmons Creek: Site 2

- UTM Coordinates: E 503382 N 5553556
- Substrate: Boulders and cobbles
- Cover: Large woody debris, boulders, small woody debris, overhanging banks, overhanging streamside vegetation



Figure 28: Fitzsimmons Creek site 2. November 10, 2004. Photo by Zac Semeniuk.



Fitzsimmons Creek: Site 3

- UTM Coordinates: E 503398 N 5553462
- Substrate: Boulders and cobbles
- Cover: Boulders



Figure 29: Fitzsimmons Creek site 3. November 10, 2004. Photo by Zac Semeniuk.



Soo River: Site 1

- UTM Coordinates: E 509713 N 5567390
- Substrate: Cobbles and fine
- Cover: Large woody debris, small woody debris, overhanging banks, deep pools



Figure 30: Soo River site 1. October 13, 2004. Photo by Jen Carter.



Soo River: Site 2

- UTM Coordinates: E 509750 N 5567367
- Substrate: Cobbles and boulders
- Cover: Large woody debris, small woody debris, boulders, deep pools



Figure 31: Soo River site 2. October 13, 2004. Photo by Jen Carter.



Soo River: Site 3

- UTM Coordinates: E 5019872 N 5567040
- Substrate: Cobbles and fine
- Cover: Large woody debris, small woody debris, overhanging banks



Figure 32: Soo River site 3. October 13, 2004. Photo by Zac Semeniuk.



Rutherford Creek: Site 1

- UTM Coordinates: E 509753 N 5569244
- Substrate: Cobbles and boulders
- Cover: Boulders



Figure 33: Rutherford Creek site 1. November 3, 2004. Photo by Jen

Carter.



Rutherford Creek: Site 2

- UTM Coordinates: Unknown; access from secondary road that runs adjacent to Rutherford Creek on the east side of the valley
- Substrate: Boulders and cobbles
- Cover: Boulders, deep pools



Figure 34: Rutherford Creek site 2. November 3, 2004. Photo by Zac Semeniuk.



Rutherford Creek: Site 3

- UTM Coordinates: Unknown; access from secondary road that runs adjacent to Rutherford Creek on the east side of the valley
- Substrate: Cobbles and boulders
- Cover: Boulders and deep pools



Figure 35: Rutherford Creek site 3. April 8, 2005. Photo by Zac Semeniuk.



Appendix B: Stream Site Cards


			SITE CARD			
STREAM NAME (par) Blacks	omb Cree	i k	0	Blackcomb	Creek	
WATERSHED CODE] 9 41 61	711010191	76010/171	000		LLL	
ILPMAP / 925,016 ILP	,		ND MAP	e NDA	1000 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10	
REACH # - SIT	E#	FIELD UTW 10	504401 155	S252.61 SITELO	1	ACCESS V2
DATE 2000 5 0141017	TIME [] [3.]	2 10 ASENCY	CREW	V JJLC IZES	1	FISH FORM YI (N)
CHANNEL with T			GRADIENT %	EMS	REO. #	-
CHANNEL WIDTH In: 416 4.2.4	1945 41	44	2% 66	TEMP *C	COND.	pā/em 🔤
WETTED WIDTH (m) H.S. H.2 H	62 4.1 4.2	标注		pH	TURB.	T M L (C)
RES, POOL DEPTH (m) 0.6 0.7 0	170606	04		FLD SNS	_	
W. Da (m) , , , , , S	TAGE L M H	NaVis Ch. D	exflut.	BED MATERIAL Dumina	nt	Subdem.
COVER Tetal		DW Tribs	Prese I	D95 (em) D (em)		Morph. RA-W
Type SWD LWD B. U D	P OY IV	CROWN CLOSURE	_	DISTURBANCE DI	B1 B2	83 01 D2 D3
LICPPPD	P	0 2 2	3 4 5	C1 C2 C3 C4	done tonto	S2 S3 S4 S5
BUNDENC N (F)A DI	IST C (E) IN	STREAM VEG N	AMV	PATTERN TM N	E IM	IR (ST) ST
LB SHP U V (\$)0	RI	SHP U V (S)	0	ISLANDS (N) 0	1	F S AN
TEXTURE F E (C) B	RA T	EXTURE F G C (B)RA	BARS (N) S	IDE DIAG	MID SPAN BR
RIP, VEG. N G S C	DINOW	IP. VEG. N G S	C D (M) W-	COUPLING (DC) P	C CO	
STAGE INIT SHR PS	TF MENA	STARE INIT SHR	PS YF MENA	CONFINEMENT EN C	0 FC (DC) UN NVA
C NID MAP# NID# TY	YPE HT/LG (m	orthel PHOTO	DOMMENT\$			UTM
53	1	R F				[]]
		R F			1 E	1. 1.
2		R F				
	i i	R F	-		T.	1

SITE CARD	
STREAM NAME 1922) Blackcomb Creek (brai) Blackcomb	Creek
WATERSHED CODE / 19 14 は 71 10 09 1 4 6 0 01 17 10 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
ILP MAP # 92J, 016 ILP # NID MAP # NID	
REACH # - SITE # Z FIELD UTM 10 5045 2.2 5552 42 SITE LG	ACCESS YZ
DATE 120101510141017 TIME 112115 AGENCY CREW JULC ZES	FISH FORM YI N
CRANNEL mthd GRADIENT % EMS	REQ. #
CHANNEL WIDTH (m) 3.64.24.24.24.6454.6 27. 68 TEMP *C	COND. µS/cm
WETTED WIDTH (m) 3.1 3.3 3.7 3.6 3.78.7 pH	TURB. T M L (C)
RES. POOL DEPTH (n) 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.2 FLD SNS	
W _b Dp (m) STAGE L (M) H No Via. Ch. Dryfint. BED MATERIAL Domin	ent Subdem.
COVER Total DW Tribe, D55 (cm) D (cm	Marph RPC-W
Typo SWD LWD B U DP OV W CROWN CLOSURE DISTURBANCE	- 641 B 406 and 270 UV2 (41
	BI BZ B3 U1 UZ U3 e
	C5 S1 S2 S3 S4 S5
UND FILE (N) F A DIST C (E) INSTREAM VEG N (A) M Y PATTERN TM	ME IM IR (SI) ST
UB SHP U V (S) O RB SHP U V (S) O ISLANDS (N)	0 I F S AN
TEXTURE FGCBRA TEXTURE FGCBRA BARS (N)	SIDE DIAG MID SPAN BR
RIP, VEG, N G S C D (M)W RIP, VEG, N G S C D (M)W / COUPLING (DC)	PC 00
STADE INIT SHE PS YF MENA STADE INIT SHE PS YF MENA CONFINEMENT EN	CO FC (OC) UN N/A
C NID MAP # NID # TYPE HT/LG (n) intid PROTO COMMENTS	UTM



			-				SITE	CARD								
STREAM	NAME (pazt Bla	ckcom	b Cre	iek.				()0	Il Blackcomb C	ree	k				
WATERS	HED CODE	111914	16171/1	010191	Tibic	10/17	110:0	111	11	THIT	11	1.1	11	11	1.1.	11
ILP MAP	· 92J. (516	ILP P					NIDMA	₽ŧ	NID #	5					
READH #	÷		SITE#	3	RELD	UTM 10	1504	59015	:55	2 41415P2 SITELS		1	ACC	ESS	YZ	
DATE 1	101015	0410	7 TIME	111	3:0	ABENDY		CR	ÉW	JILC IZES	1		FISH	FORM	Y	N)
CH	ANNEL	ntte 🗂					GRADI	ENT %		EMS		RED.A	_			-
CHANNE	L WIDTH (m)	2.32	4257	4 2.4	2.5		2%	GE		TEMP *C		COND)	s/cm	and a
WETTED	WIDTH (m)	L.L.L.	21.41	5 1.6	1.4					all		TURB.	T	ML	(1)	#
RES POI	DL DEPTH (m)	0.20	4040	404	0.2					FLD SNS	-		-	-	-	
W. Do is	al	10.0010	STAGE	LIDE	No Vie	Ch.	Desder.		-	BED MATERIAL Domina	nt		Dubd	anı.		
	COVER	1	intel		DW	Tri	ibe.	-		D95 (cm) D (cm)			Morp	h. RR	3-W	
7978	SWD LWD	8 U	DP 0	(If	CROWN	CLOSURE			_	DISTURBANCE 01	B1	82	ни В3	D1	DZ	5 D3 5
102	PP	P	P	-	i l	1 2	3 1	I L	-	C1 (C2 (C1 (C4	CS.	51	52	52	\$4	S5 191
5	IWD ENC	NOA	DIST	DU	STREAM	AVEC N	AI	V V		PATTERN IM	AE.	IM	IB	(\$1)	ST	6
8	LD SHP	MV S	6	B	B SHP	UVB	0.0		-	ISLANDS (N) (1	1	F	s	AN	- 64
-	TEXTURE	E B (E)	HEA	- 17	EXTURE	F 6 (0	DB B	۵	-	BARS (N) S	IDE	DIAG	MID	SPA	N BR	
-	DID VEC	NCE	C D A	141	NE VEG	NES	C D	NO W	-	COMPLING (DC) F	36	00				-
-	STADE	INIT SHE	DS VE (E)	ENA	STARE	MIT SHE	PS YE	MINA	-	CONFINEMENT EN	10	FC	(50)	UN	N/A	
0	NID MAP #	NDF	TYPE	HT/LB (n	il rebit	PHOTO	CON	MENTS		- southern of the	T			UT	31	
10					-	II F	-		_			1		1	-	1
181				-		8 F			-		1	-	-	1		1
FEAT				-	-	1 1	-		-		T	-		1	_	1
						1 F			-			-		1	-	

					1.00	114					Sľ	TE C.	ARD	l.							_				
STREAM	NAME	le	ac))	Vini	elan	n A	lile	Cre	e k				1.1.1.1	¢lo	all Mix	net	een	M	ic.	Cr.e.	ek	_		_	
WATERS	HED CO	06	111	141	61.71	101	019	88	010	1.1	1	1	1.1	1.1	111	11	11	1	11	1.1	11	11	11	11	1
ILP MAP	192	J.C	16	1	U₽#							1	(ID MA	up∦	and the second		1	* GIR				0.00	1		
REACH A	6	-		1	SITE #	1.		FIEL	D UTM	110	60	0316	5 15	65	52.2413	02	SITELO	3	- 3	í	AEI	ESS	V2	-	
DATE 12	1010	515	014	1014	O Th	AE 1	18	215	AGE	NCY		1201	ÇF	IEW	IJL	Ċ	120	ES.	1	<u> </u>	FIS	H PORM	A Y	I (N)	1
CH	ANNEL		ritid	T	T						8	ADIEN	I %		EMS					REG. #					
CHANNE	L WIDT	H (m)	3.1	3.3	3.2	3.6	3.	3.4				20	66		TEMP			"C		COND		. 3	µ\$/em		IIII
WETTED	WIDTH	i (m)	3.1	3.3	3.2	38	33	3.3							pH					TURB.	T	ML	C		
HES. POC	X, DEPT	(In Oal)	0.5	0.7	0.7	0.8	0.6	0,0				1	-		FLD SN	\$			_						
W _b . Dp (n	1.0	1	1	1	STAG	ELI	ИН	Rov	is Ch.		Dryf	Int.	-		BED MA	TERIA	d. D	omine	nt co	bbie	Subd	em, Ç	ine		
	COVE	8	-	Tot	al			D	W	Tr	its.		-		D95 (cm	n)	D	(cti)		-	Marp	A. R.P	Pc.	10	
סקער	SWD	two	B	U	DP	90	W	CRUV	VN CLO	SURE					DISTUR	BANC	E	01	B1	#3x B2	83 B3	3%0 D1	D2	(Da)	M
AME	1	5	N	7	2	3	N	2	1000	THOM	41 000	71474	+ 87%	⊢	HII ON	19.0	***	C.A.	duing .	April 1	lique e.a.	100	-	erides Cr.	IR PH
# LIC	Y	1		1	Y	F	1	0	10	2	3	1 4	5	-	Detter	62	63	-	60	31	2.6	20	0.6	20	8
8	DVD	INC	NE	A	DIST	(E)		ASTRE	AW AFE		1.6) ni	Y	-	PATTER	n	100		AE.	im.	in	(81)	41		1BIY
	LB	SHP	0 0	(3)	0	-	8	8 5	HP U	V (3	00		_	-	ISLAND	5	- In	_			100	5	PD	-	
<u> </u>	TEXT	URE	FG	0	B R	Α.		TEXTUR	REF	G (0) B	RA		-	BARS		<u>_</u>		IDE	ULAB	MID	SPA	N Ba	-	
	RIP.	VEG.	NG	\$ 1	C Ð	MDW.		RIP. VE	6. N	6 5	C	D) W -	_	COUPLI	NG	(DC) P	¢	00	-				
	51	DAGE	INIT :	SHR 1	PS YF	WEN	A	STA	GE IN	IT SHE	I PS	YF M	FNA		CONFEN	EMEN	IT EN	9	7 00	FG)	DC .	UN	NU	A	
0	NID M	AP#	NIC	10	TYPE	HT.	LG	n) mf	e P	HOTO		COMM	ENTS						_			01	M		_
22	-			-			1	_	R	F_	_	_				_	_	_	_	1		1	-	1	_
2							1		R	_ F_	_									1		1	-	1	_
5							1		R_	_ F.	-	_					_	_		1		1	_	1	_
							1		R_	_ F_	_									1		1	2	1	_



	1.00		ter.				-				Sľ	TE CA	RD								
STR	EAM	NAME	l l	az)	Nin	eteer	οN	ile	Cree	ĸ				(loc	1) Nineteen M	i liz	Cree	k			
WA	TERS	HED CI	00E	11	914	biti	110	019	181810	I loid	1.1	L L I	1				1.1			11	1.1
ILP	MAP	192	J. 0	16		ILP#	_					N	ID MA	₽ø	NID #						
REA	CH #		-			SITE #	2		FIELD	UTM	0 15	03134	15	555	200 (GIP2 SITELG		1	ACC	ESS `	12	-
0 A1	E Z	101	015	014	10	6 11	AE /	17	310	ABENCY	1		CR	EW	JLC 1255	1		FISH	FORM	YI (N)
	CH	ANNE		nte	0 T	T					GF	ADIENT	1%		EMS		REQ.#				=
CHA	INNE	L WID	TH (m)	4.2	4.6	2.4.6	4.2	9.1	4,2		6	2.%	ĜĒ		TEMP "C		COND.		μ	i/on	NIE NIE
WE	TTED	WIDT	H (m)	4,0	4.2	4.2	4.0	3.8	3.8						pH		TURB.	т	ML(0	30
RES	. POC	L DEP	TH (re)	0.2	0.3	0.4	0,4	0.2	0.1						FLD SNS						
We	Dp (m	ψı	1	1	1	STAG	EL.	ЮH	No Vis	Ch.	Dryd	Int.			BED MATERIAL Demina	nt co	obble	Subde	m.£i,	ne	
		COVE	R		To	tal			DM	r i i	Tribs.				D95 (cm) D (cm)			Morp	h RB	6	
	īγpe	SWD	LWD	В	U	DP	01,	IV	CROWN	V CLOSUR	ε				DISTURBANCE Discourse	Rian P	e acte R2	84	85D 5	02 6	
	AMT	T	S	N	N	N	N	N	•	1400 11-10	N 41-202	9498	> 825		INDIGATORS OF	0.10	i Ionite	MQW	19.409 4	NUM HOU	
	100	P	P						0	1 2	3	4	5		C1 C2 C3 C4	C5	\$1	\$2	\$3	\$4 S	5 8
BND		UVD	FNC	N F	: (A)	DIST	٢	E	NSTREAM	n veg	N A	M (V)		PATTERN TM N	1E	IM	谏	(SI)	ST	_ 9
•		LB	SHP	0.1	13	0		B	B SHP	• U V	S 0				ISLANDS (N) C)	1	۴	S	AN	
		TEX	TURE	F	i (C)	BR	A		TEXTURE	I F G (C 8	RΑ			BARS (N) S	IDE	OLAG	MID	SPAN	BR	
		RIP	VEG.	N C	3 5	C D	(M) V	V I	RIP. VEG	. 🕅 G	s c	D M	W٢		COUPLING (DC) P	c.	00				
		S	TAGE	INIT	SHR	P\$ YF	(MF)	IA	STADE	INIT S	HR PS	YF ME	NA		CONFINEMENT EN C	x0	6	00	UN	N/A	
	C	NID N	ΛΑΡ#	N	D#	TYPE	Ю	/LG (n) ortid	PNOT	10	COMME	NT\$						UTN	1	
23								1		R F									1		
Ę.								1		R F									1		-
E.								1		R P							1				
								1		R P							1		1		

												SIT	E C/	ARD									a sure of
ST	IEAN	NAME	(q.)	a.) j	Vin	2.326	91. N	ile.	Cree	k.				_	llas	a) Ninete	en M	114	Cre	ek			
WP	JEFS	HED COD	11	119	141	617	110	09	8181	001	1.1	11	1	1.1.	1	11111	111	11	11	1.1	11	1.1	11
ILP	MAP	0 923	, 0	16	T	LP /	-				100	1.1.1	N	AD 114	14		ND#		200	1	12205		
RE	4011	1	-			SITE #	3		FIELD	MTU (ID.	150	801	5 15	696	5215 GP2 31	TELG		1	ADO	ESS	12	
D4	TE 12	10,01	51(214	101	0 11	ME	16	410	ABEN	1CY		1.0	DR	£₩	IJLC I	ZES	1		FIS	1 FORM	t Yi	(\mathbb{N})
	CH	ANNEL		ritid	-	T	T	T	T			GR.	ADIEN	T%		EMIS			REQ. #			1	-
CH	ANNE	LWIDTH	m)	4.1	4.0	135	3.1	25	1.6			12	26	138		TEMP	*C		COND		3	Sjen	ATTA
W	TTED	WIDTH	nl	2.11	26	2,1	2.1	7.4	1.10				-	1	-	pH			TURB.	τ	ML	(2)	
RE	S. POC	DEPTH	Ini	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.2			_			1	FLD SNS			1		- 1.1		
W.	Ds (s	11.		1	1	STA	GE L	M) H	RoVi	s Ch		Draft	at.			BED MATERIAL	Domina	ast.co	(able)	Subc	on fi	ne	
		COVER		-	Ta	til		-	DA	N	Trib	15.		-		095 (cm)	Dicet			Morp	h R	Pe	
	Type	SW0 LA	0	B	U	DP	۵V	ñ'	CROW	N CLOS	URE				_	DISTURBANCE	01	B1	erte B2	B3	B1	D2	an D3 ≧
U.	AMT	1 1	2	N	N	N	0	N	1	10	1-05	1.785	IT ION	+ 801	_	and the P	invio mitati	de ber	Lan ba	ing.	No.	estar a	(10 M)
=	LIC	Y					P	101.0	0	1	2	3	4	5	_	101 621	03 69	La	31	52	00	09	00 B
E		UND FN	G ((NJ F	A	DIST	¢	E) I	NSTREA	M YEB	(n)	A	M	v	-	PATIERN	1M 705	NIE O	UNA.	111	(3)	- 01 - A41	- 2
	_	LB S	IP I	V V	(5)	0			IB SH	P U	V (S)	0			_	ISLANDS	(N)	0		1.00	3	AN DO	-
		TEXTU	RE	F G	C	BR	A	_	TEXTUR	E F	8 (C)	B	RA		_	BARS	00	SIDE	CLAS	MID	SPA	N BH	-
		HIP. W	G .	N 6	s	C D	(M))	<u> </u>	RIP. VE	R (N)	6 \$	C	D M	W.	_	COUPLING	(DC)	PC	CO CO				-
		STA	iE	NIT 3	\$148	PS YF	(ME)	44	STAG	E NI	SHR	PS	AE/M	ENA	_	CONFINEMENT	EN	CO	(FC)	00	UN	N/Z	
	C	NID MA	22	NIC	14	TYPE	H1	7161	n) niv	d Pł	IOTO	r	ION M	ENTS				-		_	UT	м	_
盟		-						1		1	F	-	_	_					1	_	1		1
E								1		F	. F	-			-				1		1	_	
Ð								1		R	. ŧ	-			_			_	1		1		1
								1	1	R	. F	-			_				1	_	1	-	



and a state of the state of the		SITE CAF	Ð	
STREAM NAME INAL! TH	rentwork M	ile Creek	local Twentyone	Mile Creek
WATERSHED CODE /1/1914	1471101019	1811 101015131610101 1	u lu lu lu	the first of the
11PMAP/ 925016	ILP #	NID	MAP# NID#	
REACH / -	SITE# /	FIELD UTM 110 1901206	155529721 6:P2 SITELS	ACCESS VZ
DATE 2101015 101410	77 TIME 114	3 D AGENCY	DREW IJLC IZES	FISH FORM Y (N)
CHANNEL INte 7		GRADIENT S	EMS	REO.#
CHAMNEL WIDTH (m) 2.63	1 3.4 3.4 3.6	3.4 176 5	TEMP *C	COND. µS/cm
WETTED WIDTH (m) Z.6 2	829 2828	3 2.8	рH	TURB, T M L (G)
RES. POOL DEPTH (n) 0.3 0.	3040403	10.4	FLO SNS	2. 6.0
W _b Dp (m)	STAGE L(M) H	No Vis. Ch. Dry/Int.	SED MATERIAL Domina	int Subdom
COVER	Total	DW Tritm.	095 (an) D (cm)	Marph. R.P.CWI
Type SWD LWO B U	DP OY IV	CROWN CLOSURE	INDICATORS 01	B1 B2 B3 D1 02 D3
10C P P P	P	0 1 2 3 4	5 C1 C2 C3 C4	C5 S1 S2 S3 S4 S5 5
UND FNC N/F)A	DIST COE	INSTREAM VED (N) A M V	PATTERN TM N	ME IM IR (SL) ST
B LB SHP U V S	0 1	RB SHP (D) V S O	ISLANDS (N) 0	JIFSAN
TEXTURE F 0/C	BRA	TEXTURE F G C B R A	BARS (N) S	SIDE DIAG MID SPAN BR
RIP. VEG. N G S	C D (M) W	RIP. VEB. N G S C D (M) W	COUPLING (DC) P	PC C0
STAGE INIT SHR	PS YF MBNA	STADE INIT SHE PS YF MFN	A CONFINEMENT EN C	DO PO (OC) UN N/A
C NID MAP # NID #	TYPE HT/LG	no print PHOTO COMMEN	T\$	UTM
13		R_E_NEAT	og bike bridge	
ani	1	RF	0	
5		RF		
		R F		

	SITE CAL	HD	and the second			
STREAM NAME (and Twentyone Mile Creek	6	6.	call Twentyone	Mile (reek	
WATERSHED CODE 11/191416171/10101916110101	51316101011	11	THULL	111	111	1111
LP MAP # 925.016 11P1	NID	MAPA	NID /			
REACH# - SITE# 2. RELDUTM	110 150119 2	6553	2966672 SITELG	1	ACCES\$	12
DATE 200150 41017 TIME 1115 215 AG	ENCY	DREW	JUC ZES	1	FISH FORM	A YI (N)
CHANNEL Fill T	GRADIENT ?	H	EMS	REQ. #	909 - E	
CHANNEL WIDTH (1) 3:6 3.6 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.7	2%	\$Ø	TEMP *C	COND		pS/em
WETTED WIDTH (#) 5,2 3,1 5,2 3,2 3,1 3,1			рН	TURB.	TNL	
RES. POOL DEPTH In 0.2 0 4 0.5 0.5 03 0.2	2 2 3 3 3		FLD SNS	1.00		
Wa Dp (m) STAGE L (M)H No Yis, Ch.	Dry/Int.		BED MATERIAL Domina	rt.	Subdom.	
DOWER Total DW	Tribs.		D95 (cm) D (cm)	1.00	Morph R	Pc-W
Type SWD LWD B U DP 0V N CROWN CLO	SURE	_	DISTURBANCE 01	B1 B2	B3 D1	02 D3 B
	2 3 4	5	C1 C2 C3 C4	CS S1	52 S3	S4 S5 B
LWD FINC (N) F A DIST (C) E INSTREAM VE	O (N) A M V	1	PATTERN TM M	NE IM	IR (SI)	ST B
LB SHP U V (S) 0 RB SHP U	V (\$) 0		ISLANDS (N) 0	1	F S	AN
TEXTURE F G C B R A TEXTURE F	GOBRA		BARS (N) S	IDE DIAG	MID SPA	N BR
RIP, VEG. N G S C D M W RIP. VEG. N	G S (C) D M Y	N -	COUPLING (C) P	00 00		
STAGE INT SHE PS YF MFMA. STAGE IN	IT SHE PS YE ME)	14	CONFINEMENT EN C	O FC	(OC) UN	N/A
C NID MAP4 NID 4 TYPE HT/LG m) mind	PHOTO COMMEN	TS			U	TMI .
53 J II.				1	1	
2 1 8	F			1	1	1
Ĥ R_	F			1	1	1
8	F			1	1	1



							SIT	E CAI	Ð						
STREAM	NAME Is	121 TWE	ntre	me N	tile Cri	11K			ļk	call Twentyone	Mi	le G	reel	6	
WATERS	HED CODE	111919	bi ti	100	1918111	10513	16161	õL L	1.1		1	11		LII	LII
ILP MAP	+ 925.0	16	ILP #	1010		1015-02		NID	MAP	ND/	_				
REACH #			SITE	3	RELD	UTM 1 18	150	1063	1959	308716192 SITE 16		1	ADOS	88 Y2	1
DATE 2	1006	014101	7 TIM	10 1 31	6135	AGENCY			CREW	JJLC IZES	1		RISH	FORM Y	(N)
CH	ANNEL	mthd	T				GR/	ADIENT S	6	EMS		REQ. #			5
CHANNE	L WIDTH (m)	5.765	58.2	9.1 1	1.711.2		2	%	àΕ	TEMP °C		COND.		µ\$/en	L MATE
WETTED	WIDTH (m)	5.0 10.0	78	8.79	3987					pH		TURB.	Т	M L (Ĉ	5
RES. POC	L DEPTH (m)	0.1 0.1	51.3	2.21	8 0.7					FLD SNS					
W _b Dp (n	0 1	1 1	STAG	E L(M)	H No Vis	. Ch.	Dryli	VL I		BED MATERIAL Domina	nt		Subio	m.	
	COVER	To	tal		DV	V T	ribs.			D95 (cm) D (cm)			Morph	1886-	w
Type	SWD LWD	B U	DP	OV I	Y CROW	N GLOSURE				DISTURBANCE 01	D-1	n ette D2	801 B9	540 /080. D3 090	1811 D.2 - 52
AME	ST	T. N	N	J T	1 m	(98) 2140	41-765	71-10% >	105	acid sopi alerte entide.	41	Dig lage had	D-3	grady in the	to be here and
en 100	PP	P		P	0	1 2	3	4	5	C1 C2 C3 C4	CS	S1	S 2	S3 S4	S5 8
8	EWD FNC	NDA	DIST	C) E	INSTREA	M VEB (N) A	M V	1	PATTERN TM I	MΕ	IM	IR	(SI) ST	901
•	LB SHP	U V (S)	0		RB SHI	O U I	S D			ISLANDS (N))	1	F	S A	N
	TEXTURE	F B (C)	BR	A	TEXTUR	E F 6	С В ()	R)A		BARS (N) S	SIDE	DIAG	MID	SPAN B	8
	NIP. YEG.	NBS	C) D	M W	RIP. VEG	. N 6	s 🗊	DMV	V	COUPLING (DC) I	00	CO	~		
	STAGE	INIT SHR	PS YE	MEINA	STAG	E INIT SH	R PS	YE (ME)	IA.	CONFINEMENT EN	:0	FC (00)	UN N	/A
С.	NID MAP #	NID #	TYPE	HT/L	G(n) nthe	PHOTO	0	OWNEN	TS .					UTM	
23	8 6		1	1		R F_		alver	4					1	1
12						R F_						1		1	1
5				. 1		R F_	_					1		1	1
						R F_								1	

| | | | |
 |
 |
 | | | SI | IE CA | ARD |
 | | |
 | | | | | | | |
|-----------|--|---|---
--

--
--
--
---|---|--|---|--|---
---|--
---|--|--|--|---|---|---|---|--|
| NAME | (gaz.) | Fitz | sin | m
 | ons
 | Cre
 | ek | | | | | lloc
 | 310 F | tz | si
 | mm | ons | Cree | e k | | | |
| HED CODE | lhh | 914 | 6171 | 101
 | 0191
 | 7161
 | 010 | | | | 1 |
 | | 1 | 1
 | | 11 | 11 | 11 | | | 11 |
| +925 | 016 | | ILP# |
 |
 |
 | | | | N | ID MV | 4P≠
 | | |
 | N | 0 # | | | | | _ |
| | | | SITE ∉ | 1
 |
 | FIBLO
 | UTM | 110 | 150 | 3411 | 15 | 66 2
 | 5680 | 692 | 51
 | TE LG | | 1 | AC | 253 | 12 | _ |
| 10106 | 101 | 4101 | 7 TIN | 18 1
 | 10
 | 110
 | AG | ENCY | | | Ċ | ew
 | - it | LĊ | 1
 | ZE | S I | | FIS | H FORM | t Yi | (N) |
| ANNEL | mth | dΠ | 1 |
 |
 |
 | | | GR | ADIEN | F% | | |
 | EMS | |
 | | | REO. 4 | 1 | | | 5 |
| L WIDTH | n) 9.1 | 69.8 | 39.9 | 10.4
 | 10.1
 | 10.4
 | | | -2 | 1% | 66 | | |
 | TEMP | |
 | | .с | COND | L. | 1 | µ\$Jem | E P |
| WIDTH (m | 9.1 | 1 9.5 | 9.5 | 9.7
 | 9.7
 | 9.8
 | | | | | | | |
 | pН | |
 | | | TURB | . A |) M L | С | |
| L DEPTH (| n) (3,4 | 10,4 | 10.7 | 0.7
 | 0.7
 | 0,4
 | | | | | |
 | RLD S | NS P | tbd
 | undio | n Che | Anne | 5 | | | |
| 1 1 | 1 | 1 | STAG | EL
 | M)H
 | No Vi
 | is. Ch. | | Dry/I | hrt. | |
 | BED | NATER | IAL
 | Dee | inart | | Subo | ion. | | |
| COVER | _ | Ta | tal |
 | _
 | D
 | W | Tri | bs. | | | | |
 | D95 (| emi |
 | Die | m) | | Mag | h RE | °C. | |
| SWD DW | 0 8 | U | DP | 07
 | IV.
 | CROW
 | IN CLO | SURE | | | |
 | DIST | RBAN | ICE.
 | bee | 210 | A | 278 | END
D.1 | LVD
DA | A1 |
| TT | N | N | N | S
 | N
 | 6
 | 985 | 131-05 | 41.725 | 17.025 | + 00% |
 | INDIC | ATOR | 5
 | HIVE III. | 10 10 | U BZ | B3 | 01 | exter a | U3 WW |
| P S. | 1 | | | P
 | -
 | D
 | (1) | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 |
 | CI | C2 | 2
 | C3 (| 24 C | 5 S1 | S2 | S3 | S4 | S5 🖥 |
| LWD FNC | N) | F A | DIST | C (
 | E) IN
 | STREA
 | M VE | G (N |) A | M | ٧ | | |
 | PATT | RN |
 | TM | ME | IM | IR | (3) | ST | 90 |
| LB SH | • U · | V (3) | 0 |
 | R
 | B SH
 | P (U |)V S | 0 | | | | |
 | ISLA | IDS |
 | (\mathbb{N}) | 0 | 1 | F | S | AN | |
| TEXTUR | EF | s (C) | BR | A
 | Т
 | EXTUR
 | E F | 6(0 | В | R A | | | |
 | BARS | |
 | Ň | (SIDE |) DIAG | MID | SPA | N BR | |
| RIP. VEC | . N . | 5 5 | C (D) | N V
 | V I
 | RIP. VEC
 | 6. N | G |)c | DM | W^{ν} | | |
 | COUF | UNG |
 | (00) | PC | CO | | | | |
| STAG | E INIT | SHR | PS YF | (MF)N
 | A
 | STAG
 | E IN | IT SHE | PS | YF(M) | NA. |
 | CONF | INEM | ENT
 | EN | CO | FC | (0Ĉ | UN | NW | |
| NID MAP | * N | ID # | TYPE | HT
 | /LG (m
 | (nth
 | d | рното | 1 | COMMUN | INTS | _
 | | | | | | | |
 | | | | - | UT | M | |
| | - | | |
 | 1
 | -
 | 8_ | F_ | _ | | |
 | | |
 | | | 1 | | | | 1 |
| | | | |
 | 1
 |
 | R_ | F | _ | | | | |
 | | |
 | | | | | 1 | | 1 |
| | | | |
 | 1
 |
 | R_ | F | _ | | | | |
 | | |
 | | | | | | | 1 |
| | | | |
 | 1
 |
 | R_ | F | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
 | | |
 | | | 1 | | 1 | | 1 |
| | NAME
HED CODE
F 9 2 3 -
10 10 6
ANY EL
L WIDTH IN
WIDTH IN
COVER
SWID LW
T T
P S.R
LWD FINC
LB SHI
TEXTURE
RIP VEC
STAGE
NID MAP | NAME (goz.)
HED CODE []]]]
F 9 2 3 . 0 16
F 9 2 3 . 0 16
NYTEL (M) 9
WIDTH (M) 9
WIDTH (M) 9
WIDTH (M) 9
UNDTH (M) 9
COVER
SWID LWD 8
T T N
P S.P
UND FNC (M)
TEXTURE F (
RIP. VEG. N (
STAGE INIT
NID MAP + N | NAME (1982.) Fif2
HED CODE [1] [9] [4]
F 92.5.0] [6
 | NAME (pac) Fifzsign HED CODE 11191416171 #925.016 ILP# - SITE# 401051014017 ILP# - SITE# 401051014017 TIM ANVIEL mod T LWIDTH (m) 9.6 9.8 9.9 STAC UNDTH (m) 9.4 9.5 9.5 STAC COVER Tatal STAC SWD LWD B U DP T N N N P S.P I I LWD FNC N N N P S.P I I LWD FNC N N N P S.P I I LWD FNC N N N P S.P I I LWD FNC N N N STAGE N S C STAGE N S S <td>NAME (1022) Fitz simmer HED CODE 11 19 14 10 71 10 #92.3 0.16 ILP# SITE# 1 10 6 12.5 10 #010.6 6 0.14 0.7 TIME 1 10 10.6 10.4 MARTEL mod T 9.6 9.8 9.7 10.4 MARTEL mod T 9.6 9.8 9.7 10.4 MARTEL mod T 9.6 9.8 9.7 10.4 MARTEL mod T 1 STAGE 10.4 MARTEL mod T 1 STAGE 10.4 COVER Tatal SWD U/VD 8 U DP 0V T T N N S P S.P P P V 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 <t< td=""><td>NAME (pat.) Fifzsimmons HED CODE 1194/67100191 +925.016 ILP+ - SITE+ - STAGE - SITE+ - SITH+ - <t< td=""><td>NAME (ust.) Fifzsimmons Cre HED CODE 11 19 14 10 10 17 10 4ED CODE 11 19 14 10 10 17 10 17 10 17 10 17 10 17 10 <</td><td>NAME (paz.) Fifz.simmons Creek HED CODE [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [</td><td>NAME (ast.) Fifz.simmons Cree.k. HED CODE 1.1914161711000177600111 FIELD UTM_10 +92.5.016 ILP# - SITE# FIELD UTM_10 -010.5 014.017 TIME 1.01041710 - SITE# FIELD UTM_10 AGENCY - MIDTH Im1 9.6 9.8 9.7 9.7 - STAGE IMP No Vis. Ch. DW DW COVER Tatal DW No Vis. Ch. DW DW COVER Tatal DW No Vis. Ch. DW Tatal P S.P P D 0 1 2 LWD FNC N.P. A DIST C.E. INSTREAM VEO N LB SHP U.V (3) O RB SHP (U.) V 3 3 TEXTURE F G.C. B A DIST C.E.</td><td>SI NAME (102.) Fitz.simmons Creek HED CODE III P # Fitz.simmons Creek #ED CODE III P # Fitz.simmons Creek #ED UTM 100 [9171b1010] #ED UTM 100 [9171b1010] Fitz.simmons Creek #ED UTM 100 [9171b1010] Fitz I Fitz I Fitz I OWDTH In1 9.6 9.8 9.7 9.7 9.8 COVER Total OWDTH In1 Q. 9.5 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.5 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.6 9.8 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.6 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8</td><td>SITE C. SITE C. SITE C. SITE C. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. FIELD UTM 100 [9] 71 [9] [9] [9] [9] [9] [9] [9] [9] [9] [9]</td><td>NAME (ust.) Fifz.simmons Cree.k HED CODE 11 19 14 10 10 11 10 10 10 11 <t< td=""><td>NAME (ast.) Fifz.simmons Creek like HED CODE 111914161711009171600 1</td><td>NAME (ust.) Fifz.simments Creek Iscut Fi HED CODE 11 19141 [a17] 1010 [917] [a10] 01 1 1 1 1 #ED CODE 11 9141 [a17] 1010 [917] [a10] 01 1 1 1 1 1 #92.5.016 ILP# NID MAP# NID MAP# NID MAP# - SITE# FIELD UTM 10 [503411 [5553680] 1 15553680] 1000 F5 014 017 TIME 1 0 1 10 AGENCY CREW 13 1 1 15553680] 1000 F101 7.6 0.4 0.7 TIME 1 0 1 10 AGENCY CREW 13 1 1 15553680] 1010 F5 014 017 TIME 1 0 7 0.7 0.7 0.4 0 RD 8 PH 1</td><td>SITE CARD SITE CARD NAME (set) Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Creek ND MAP # ND MAP # NID MAP # NID MAP # NID MAP # NID MAP # SITE # PELD UTM 10 1503411 155636801672 GRADIENT % EMS GRADIENT % EMS LOID 14 017 TIME 1 01 / 10 AGENCY CREW 1500 CREW MODTH (m) 9.6 9.8 9.7 9.7 9.8 PH LWIDTH (m) 9.6 9.8 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8 PH DOT 70.7 0.4 1 RUD SNS P OW Tribs DOT 70.7 0.4 1 RUD DP OV IV CROWIN CLOSURE DOSTURBAN OW TV CROWN CLOSURE DOSTURBAN VEO NO A SEC 0 I VO RN N N N S N OW TV CROWN CLOSURE DOSTURBAN I N N N S</td><td>SITE CARD NAME (set) Fitzsimmons Creek Isout Fitzsimmons Creek Isout Fitzsimmons Creek Isout Fitzsimmons Creek NID MAP # SITE # FIELD UTM 10 1503411 1555368016/92 \$1 ANVIEL MARE med GRADIENT % EMS ANVIEL MARE MARE MARE MARE MARE MARE MARE MARE</td><td>SITE CARD NAME (set) Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Isoto Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Isoto Fitz Struke Isoto Fitz Struke Isoto F</td><td>SITE CARD NAME (set) Fitzsimmons Creek Iset Fitzsimmons Creek Iset Fitzsimmons Creek Iset Fitzsimmons HED CODE [1] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4</td><td>SITE CARD NAME (sec) Fitzsimmens Creek NAME (sec) Fitzsimmens Creek NO A NO A NO A Fitzsimmens Creek NID A Creek NID A NID A NID A NID A NID A ST</td><td>SITE CARD SITE CARD SITE CARD NAME (asc) Fitzsimmons Creek Inter interview inte</td><td>SITECAHD SITECAHD ISTECAHD ISTECAHD</td><td>STIE CARD NAME (###) Fitzsimmons Creek IBOUT Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmon Colspan="2">IDO ONE Fitzsimmon Colspan= Fitzsimmon Colspan= Fitzsimmon Colspan="2">IDO ONE Fitzsimmon</td></t<></td></t<></td></t<></td> | NAME (1022) Fitz simmer HED CODE 11 19 14 10 71 10 #92.3 0.16 ILP# SITE# 1 10 6 12.5 10 #010.6 6 0.14 0.7 TIME 1 10 10.6 10.4 MARTEL mod T 9.6 9.8 9.7 10.4 MARTEL mod T 9.6 9.8 9.7 10.4 MARTEL mod T 9.6 9.8 9.7 10.4 MARTEL mod T 1 STAGE 10.4 MARTEL mod T 1 STAGE 10.4 COVER Tatal SWD U/VD 8 U DP 0V T T N N S P S.P P P V 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 <t< td=""><td>NAME (pat.) Fifzsimmons HED CODE 1194/67100191 +925.016 ILP+ - SITE+ - STAGE - SITE+ - SITH+ - <t< td=""><td>NAME (ust.) Fifzsimmons Cre HED CODE 11 19 14 10 10 17 10 4ED CODE 11 19 14 10 10 17 10 17 10 17 10 17 10 17 10 <</td><td>NAME (paz.) Fifz.simmons Creek HED CODE [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [</td><td>NAME (ast.) Fifz.simmons Cree.k. HED CODE 1.1914161711000177600111 FIELD UTM_10 +92.5.016 ILP# - SITE# FIELD UTM_10 -010.5 014.017 TIME 1.01041710 - SITE# FIELD UTM_10 AGENCY - MIDTH Im1 9.6 9.8 9.7 9.7 - STAGE IMP No Vis. Ch. DW DW COVER Tatal DW No Vis. Ch. DW DW COVER Tatal DW No Vis. Ch. DW Tatal P S.P P D 0 1 2 LWD FNC N.P. A DIST C.E. INSTREAM VEO N LB SHP U.V (3) O RB SHP (U.) V 3 3 TEXTURE F G.C. B A DIST C.E.</td><td>SI NAME (102.) Fitz.simmons Creek HED CODE III P # Fitz.simmons Creek #ED CODE III P # Fitz.simmons Creek #ED UTM 100 [9171b1010] #ED UTM 100 [9171b1010] Fitz.simmons Creek #ED UTM 100 [9171b1010] Fitz I Fitz I Fitz I OWDTH In1 9.6 9.8 9.7 9.7 9.8 COVER Total OWDTH In1 Q. 9.5 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.5 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.6 9.8 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.6 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8</td><td>SITE C. SITE C. SITE C. SITE C. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. FIELD UTM 100 [9] 71 [9] [9] [9] [9] [9] [9] [9] [9] [9] [9]</td><td>NAME (ust.) Fifz.simmons Cree.k HED CODE 11 19 14 10 10 11 10 10 10 11 <t< td=""><td>NAME (ast.) Fifz.simmons Creek like HED CODE 111914161711009171600 1</td><td>NAME (ust.) Fifz.simments Creek Iscut Fi HED CODE 11 19141 [a17] 1010 [917] [a10] 01 1 1 1 1 #ED CODE 11 9141 [a17] 1010 [917] [a10] 01 1 1 1 1 1 #92.5.016 ILP# NID MAP# NID MAP# NID MAP# - SITE# FIELD UTM 10 [503411 [5553680] 1 15553680] 1000 F5 014 017 TIME 1 0 1 10 AGENCY CREW 13 1 1 15553680] 1000 F101 7.6 0.4 0.7 TIME 1 0 1 10 AGENCY CREW 13 1 1 15553680] 1010 F5 014 017 TIME 1 0 7 0.7 0.7 0.4 0 RD 8 PH 1</td><td>SITE CARD SITE CARD NAME (set) Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Creek ND MAP # ND MAP # NID MAP # NID MAP # NID MAP # NID MAP # SITE # PELD UTM 10 1503411 155636801672 GRADIENT % EMS GRADIENT % EMS LOID 14 017 TIME 1 01 / 10 AGENCY CREW 1500 CREW MODTH (m) 9.6 9.8 9.7 9.7 9.8 PH LWIDTH (m) 9.6 9.8 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8 PH DOT 70.7 0.4 1 RUD SNS P OW Tribs DOT 70.7 0.4 1 RUD DP OV IV CROWIN CLOSURE DOSTURBAN OW TV CROWN CLOSURE DOSTURBAN VEO NO A SEC 0 I VO RN N N N S N OW TV CROWN CLOSURE DOSTURBAN I N N N S</td><td>SITE CARD NAME (set) Fitzsimmons Creek Isout Fitzsimmons Creek Isout Fitzsimmons Creek Isout Fitzsimmons Creek NID MAP # SITE # FIELD UTM 10 1503411 1555368016/92 \$1 ANVIEL MARE med GRADIENT % EMS ANVIEL MARE MARE MARE MARE MARE MARE MARE MARE</td><td>SITE CARD NAME (set) Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Isoto Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Isoto Fitz Struke Isoto Fitz Struke Isoto F</td><td>SITE CARD NAME (set) Fitzsimmons Creek Iset Fitzsimmons Creek Iset Fitzsimmons Creek Iset Fitzsimmons HED CODE [1] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4</td><td>SITE CARD NAME (sec) Fitzsimmens Creek NAME (sec) Fitzsimmens Creek NO A NO A NO A Fitzsimmens Creek NID A Creek NID A NID A NID A NID A NID A ST</td><td>SITE CARD SITE CARD SITE CARD NAME (asc) Fitzsimmons Creek Inter interview inte</td><td>SITECAHD SITECAHD ISTECAHD ISTECAHD</td><td>STIE CARD NAME (###) Fitzsimmons Creek IBOUT Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmon Colspan="2">IDO ONE Fitzsimmon Colspan= Fitzsimmon Colspan= Fitzsimmon Colspan="2">IDO ONE Fitzsimmon</td></t<></td></t<></td></t<> | NAME (pat.) Fifzsimmons HED CODE 1194/67100191 +925.016 ILP+ - SITE+ - STAGE - SITE+ - SITH+ - <t< td=""><td>NAME (ust.) Fifzsimmons Cre HED CODE 11 19 14 10 10 17 10 4ED CODE 11 19 14 10 10 17 10 17 10 17 10 17 10 17 10 <</td><td>NAME (paz.) Fifz.simmons Creek HED CODE [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [</td><td>NAME (ast.) Fifz.simmons Cree.k. HED CODE 1.1914161711000177600111 FIELD UTM_10 +92.5.016 ILP# - SITE# FIELD UTM_10 -010.5 014.017 TIME 1.01041710 - SITE# FIELD UTM_10 AGENCY - MIDTH Im1 9.6 9.8 9.7 9.7 - STAGE IMP No Vis. Ch. DW DW COVER Tatal DW No Vis. Ch. DW DW COVER Tatal DW No Vis. Ch. DW Tatal P S.P P D 0 1 2 LWD FNC N.P. A DIST C.E. INSTREAM VEO N LB SHP U.V (3) O RB SHP (U.) V 3 3 TEXTURE F G.C. B A DIST C.E.</td><td>SI NAME (102.) Fitz.simmons Creek HED CODE III P # Fitz.simmons Creek #ED CODE III P # Fitz.simmons Creek #ED UTM 100 [9171b1010] #ED UTM 100 [9171b1010] Fitz.simmons Creek #ED UTM 100 [9171b1010] Fitz I Fitz I Fitz I OWDTH In1 9.6 9.8 9.7 9.7 9.8 COVER Total OWDTH In1 Q. 9.5 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.5 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.6 9.8 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.6 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8</td><td>SITE C. SITE C. SITE C. SITE C. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. FIELD UTM 100 [9] 71 [9] [9] [9] [9] [9] [9] [9] [9] [9] [9]</td><td>NAME (ust.) Fifz.simmons Cree.k HED CODE 11 19 14 10 10 11 10 10 10 11 <t< td=""><td>NAME (ast.) Fifz.simmons Creek like HED CODE 111914161711009171600 1</td><td>NAME (ust.) Fifz.simments Creek Iscut Fi HED CODE 11 19141 [a17] 1010 [917] [a10] 01 1 1 1 1 #ED CODE 11 9141 [a17] 1010 [917] [a10] 01 1 1 1 1 1 #92.5.016 ILP# NID MAP# NID MAP# NID MAP# - SITE# FIELD UTM 10 [503411 [5553680] 1 15553680] 1000 F5 014 017 TIME 1 0 1 10 AGENCY CREW 13 1 1 15553680] 1000 F101 7.6 0.4 0.7 TIME 1 0 1 10 AGENCY CREW 13 1 1 15553680] 1010 F5 014 017 TIME 1 0 7 0.7 0.7 0.4 0 RD 8 PH 1</td><td>SITE CARD SITE CARD NAME (set) Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Creek ND MAP # ND MAP # NID MAP # NID MAP # NID MAP # NID MAP # SITE # PELD UTM 10 1503411 155636801672 GRADIENT % EMS GRADIENT % EMS LOID 14 017 TIME 1 01 / 10 AGENCY CREW 1500 CREW MODTH (m) 9.6 9.8 9.7 9.7 9.8 PH LWIDTH (m) 9.6 9.8 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8 PH DOT 70.7 0.4 1 RUD SNS P OW Tribs DOT 70.7 0.4 1 RUD DP OV IV CROWIN CLOSURE DOSTURBAN OW TV CROWN CLOSURE DOSTURBAN VEO NO A SEC 0 I VO RN N N N S N OW TV CROWN CLOSURE DOSTURBAN I N N N S</td><td>SITE CARD NAME (set) Fitzsimmons Creek Isout Fitzsimmons Creek Isout Fitzsimmons Creek Isout Fitzsimmons Creek NID MAP # SITE # FIELD UTM 10 1503411 1555368016/92 \$1 ANVIEL MARE med GRADIENT % EMS ANVIEL MARE MARE MARE MARE MARE MARE MARE MARE</td><td>SITE CARD NAME (set) Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Isoto Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Isoto Fitz Struke Isoto Fitz Struke Isoto F</td><td>SITE CARD NAME (set) Fitzsimmons Creek Iset Fitzsimmons Creek Iset Fitzsimmons Creek Iset Fitzsimmons HED CODE [1] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4</td><td>SITE CARD NAME (sec) Fitzsimmens Creek NAME (sec) Fitzsimmens Creek NO A NO A NO A Fitzsimmens Creek NID A Creek NID A NID A NID A NID A NID A ST</td><td>SITE CARD SITE CARD SITE CARD NAME (asc) Fitzsimmons Creek Inter interview inte</td><td>SITECAHD SITECAHD ISTECAHD ISTECAHD</td><td>STIE CARD NAME (###) Fitzsimmons Creek IBOUT Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmon Colspan="2">IDO ONE Fitzsimmon Colspan= Fitzsimmon Colspan= Fitzsimmon Colspan="2">IDO ONE Fitzsimmon</td></t<></td></t<> | NAME (ust.) Fifzsimmons Cre HED CODE 11 19 14 10 10 17 10 4ED CODE 11 19 14 10 10 17 10 17 10 17 10 17 10 17 10 < | NAME (paz.) Fifz.simmons Creek HED CODE [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [] [| NAME (ast.) Fifz.simmons Cree.k. HED CODE 1.1914161711000177600111 FIELD UTM_10 +92.5.016 ILP# - SITE# FIELD UTM_10 -010.5 014.017 TIME 1.01041710 - SITE# FIELD UTM_10 AGENCY - MIDTH Im1 9.6 9.8 9.7 9.7 - STAGE IMP No Vis. Ch. DW DW COVER Tatal DW No Vis. Ch. DW DW COVER Tatal DW No Vis. Ch. DW Tatal P S.P P D 0 1 2 LWD FNC N.P. A DIST C.E. INSTREAM VEO N LB SHP U.V (3) O RB SHP (U.) V 3 3 TEXTURE F G.C. B A DIST C.E. | SI NAME (102.) Fitz.simmons Creek HED CODE III P # Fitz.simmons Creek #ED CODE III P # Fitz.simmons Creek #ED UTM 100 [9171b1010] #ED UTM 100 [9171b1010] Fitz.simmons Creek #ED UTM 100 [9171b1010] Fitz I Fitz I Fitz I OWDTH In1 9.6 9.8 9.7 9.7 9.8 COVER Total OWDTH In1 Q. 9.5 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.5 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.6 9.8 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.6 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8 OWDTH In1 Q. 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8 | SITE C. SITE C. SITE C. SITE C. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. ECC. FIELD UTM 100 [9] 71 [9] [9] [9] [9] [9] [9] [9] [9] [9] [9] | NAME (ust.) Fifz.simmons Cree.k HED CODE 11 19 14 10 10 11 10 10 10 11 <t< td=""><td>NAME (ast.) Fifz.simmons Creek like HED CODE 111914161711009171600 1</td><td>NAME (ust.) Fifz.simments Creek Iscut Fi HED CODE 11 19141 [a17] 1010 [917] [a10] 01 1 1 1 1 #ED CODE 11 9141 [a17] 1010 [917] [a10] 01 1 1 1 1 1 #92.5.016 ILP# NID MAP# NID MAP# NID MAP# - SITE# FIELD UTM 10 [503411 [5553680] 1 15553680] 1000 F5 014 017 TIME 1 0 1 10 AGENCY CREW 13 1 1 15553680] 1000 F101 7.6 0.4 0.7 TIME 1 0 1 10 AGENCY CREW 13 1 1 15553680] 1010 F5 014 017 TIME 1 0 7 0.7 0.7 0.4 0 RD 8 PH 1</td><td>SITE CARD SITE CARD NAME (set) Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Creek ND MAP # ND MAP # NID MAP # NID MAP # NID MAP # NID MAP # SITE # PELD UTM 10 1503411 155636801672 GRADIENT % EMS GRADIENT % EMS LOID 14 017 TIME 1 01 / 10 AGENCY CREW 1500 CREW MODTH (m) 9.6 9.8 9.7 9.7 9.8 PH LWIDTH (m) 9.6 9.8 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8 PH DOT 70.7 0.4 1 RUD SNS P OW Tribs DOT 70.7 0.4 1 RUD DP OV IV CROWIN CLOSURE DOSTURBAN OW TV CROWN CLOSURE DOSTURBAN VEO NO A SEC 0 I VO RN N N N S N OW TV CROWN CLOSURE DOSTURBAN I N N N S</td><td>SITE CARD NAME (set) Fitzsimmons Creek Isout Fitzsimmons Creek Isout Fitzsimmons Creek Isout Fitzsimmons Creek NID MAP # SITE # FIELD UTM 10 1503411 1555368016/92 \$1 ANVIEL MARE med GRADIENT % EMS ANVIEL MARE MARE MARE MARE MARE MARE MARE MARE</td><td>SITE CARD NAME (set) Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Isoto Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Isoto Fitz Struke Isoto Fitz Struke Isoto F</td><td>SITE CARD NAME (set) Fitzsimmons Creek Iset Fitzsimmons Creek Iset Fitzsimmons Creek Iset Fitzsimmons HED CODE [1] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4</td><td>SITE CARD NAME (sec) Fitzsimmens Creek NAME (sec) Fitzsimmens Creek NO A NO A NO A Fitzsimmens Creek NID A Creek NID A NID A NID A NID A NID A ST</td><td>SITE CARD SITE CARD SITE CARD NAME (asc) Fitzsimmons Creek Inter interview inte</td><td>SITECAHD SITECAHD ISTECAHD ISTECAHD</td><td>STIE CARD NAME (###) Fitzsimmons Creek IBOUT Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmon Colspan="2">IDO ONE Fitzsimmon Colspan= Fitzsimmon Colspan= Fitzsimmon Colspan="2">IDO ONE Fitzsimmon</td></t<> | NAME (ast.) Fifz.simmons Creek like HED CODE 111914161711009171600 1 | NAME (ust.) Fifz.simments Creek Iscut Fi HED CODE 11 19141 [a17] 1010 [917] [a10] 01 1 1 1 1 #ED CODE 11 9141 [a17] 1010 [917] [a10] 01 1 1 1 1 1 #92.5.016 ILP# NID MAP# NID MAP# NID MAP# - SITE# FIELD UTM 10 [503411 [5553680] 1 15553680] 1000 F5 014 017 TIME 1 0 1 10 AGENCY CREW 13 1 1 15553680] 1000 F101 7.6 0.4 0.7 TIME 1 0 1 10 AGENCY CREW 13 1 1 15553680] 1010 F5 014 017 TIME 1 0 7 0.7 0.7 0.4 0 RD 8 PH 1 | SITE CARD SITE CARD NAME (set) Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Creek ND MAP # ND MAP # NID MAP # NID MAP # NID MAP # NID MAP # SITE # PELD UTM 10 1503411 155636801672 GRADIENT % EMS GRADIENT % EMS LOID 14 017 TIME 1 01 / 10 AGENCY CREW 1500 CREW MODTH (m) 9.6 9.8 9.7 9.7 9.8 PH LWIDTH (m) 9.6 9.8 9.7 9.7 9.7 9.8 PH DOT 70.7 0.4 1 RUD SNS P OW Tribs DOT 70.7 0.4 1 RUD DP OV IV CROWIN CLOSURE DOSTURBAN OW TV CROWN CLOSURE DOSTURBAN VEO NO A SEC 0 I VO RN N N N S N OW TV CROWN CLOSURE DOSTURBAN I N N N S | SITE CARD NAME (set) Fitzsimmons Creek Isout Fitzsimmons Creek Isout Fitzsimmons Creek Isout Fitzsimmons Creek NID MAP # SITE # FIELD UTM 10 1503411 1555368016/92 \$1 ANVIEL MARE med GRADIENT % EMS ANVIEL MARE MARE MARE MARE MARE MARE MARE MARE | SITE CARD NAME (set) Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Isoto Fitzsimmons Creek Isoto Fitzsimmons Isoto Fitz Struke Isoto Fitz Struke Isoto F | SITE CARD NAME (set) Fitzsimmons Creek Iset Fitzsimmons Creek Iset Fitzsimmons Creek Iset Fitzsimmons HED CODE [1] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4] [4 | SITE CARD NAME (sec) Fitzsimmens Creek NAME (sec) Fitzsimmens Creek NO A NO A NO A Fitzsimmens Creek NID A Creek NID A NID A NID A NID A NID A ST | SITE CARD SITE CARD SITE CARD NAME (asc) Fitzsimmons Creek Inter interview inte | SITECAHD SITECAHD ISTECAHD ISTECAHD | STIE CARD NAME (###) Fitzsimmons Creek IBOUT Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmons Creek IDO ONE Fitzsimmon Colspan="2">IDO ONE Fitzsimmon Colspan= Fitzsimmon Colspan= Fitzsimmon Colspan="2">IDO ONE Fitzsimmon |



and the second				SITE CA	RD				
STREAM NAME (INI.) 同村y	simmon	s Creek	10000190002	lloe	ab Fitzsimmon	5 Cree	ek	
WATERSHED CODE	1111919	16171110101	9171610101	LI I I I	1.1.	11111111	111		1.1.1
ILP MAP / 923+0	>16	ILP #	an geneele te	NE	MAP #	NID #		and the owned states	
REACH #	-	SITE / Z	FIELD UTM	10 1503382	15563	SEGNCIPL STELS	t.	ACCESS 42	
DATE 2101015	0410	7 TIME O I	11/15 AGEN	CY	CREW	JLC 1 265		FISH FORM Y	(N)
CHANNEL	T bitm			GRADIENT	\$	EMS	RED, #		1
CHANNEL WIDTH In	16 38	3 6.1 8.1 8	13 8.6	2%	56	TEMP "C	COND.	gS/em	
WETTED WIDTH (m)	31 3.	272 72 7	17.5			рH	TURB.	(T) M L C	-
RES. POOL DEPTH (m	0.2 0:	404070	704			ROSNS abandon C	hannet	2	
Wa Dp (m) 1 1	1 1	STAGE L(M)	H No Vis. Ch.	Dry/Int.		BED MATERIAL Dominant	Coletele	Subdon Fines	
COVER	T	stal	DW	Tribs.		095 (cm) D (cm)		Murgh R.P.C	
THE EWD LWD	BU	DP (DV) N	CROWN CLOSE	JRE	_	DISTURBANCE 01	B1) 82	B3 D1 D2	1 13
101 6 0 0	14 14	19 0		3 3 4	5	C1 C2 C3 C4	C5 S1	S2 S3 S4	\$5
E IND FRC	NELA	DIST C(E)	INSTREAM VED	(N) A M V	1	PATTERN TM ME	IM	IR (ST) ST	
E IN SHP	(DV S	0	RB SHP U U	(3)0	-	ISLANDS (N) 0	1	F S AN	
TEXTURE	FGR	BEA	TEXTURE F	C B B A	-	BARS N (SI)	DIAG	MID SPAN BE	
RIP VED.	NGS	E/B MW	RIP UFG N D	M (D) 2 2	11-	COMPLING (DC) PC	CO		-
STACE	INT SHR	PS YE GAE NA	STAGE INIT	SHR PS YE/MER	TA .	CONFINEMENT EN CO	FC	OC) UN NV	A
C NID MAPA	NID-4	TYPE HT/LO	a ini and Ph	OTO COMMEN	78		1	UTM	
19			R	F	-		1	1	1
HE L			R	F					1
12 I			R	F					1
			R	F					

							s	ITE C	CARD									
STREAM N	IAME ()	Del Fitz	tsim	mons	Cree	k				(loc	211 Fitzsiv	mor	75 0	reek				
WATERSHE	ED CODE	11/19/4	61711	101019	1716	00						I I I						
ILP MAP #	925,0	016	ILP #						NID MA	₽ž		NID /	2					
REACH #			SITE≠	3	FIELD	UTM	10.1	5033	9815	55.3	462 692 8	ITE LG		1	ACC	ESS	72	
DATE 2.1	01015	014101	7 TIM	E1018	1010	AGENO	ïγ		CB	IEW	JLC	ZES	1		R\$H	FORM	1 Y	(N)
CHAN	NNEL	nabd T						BRADIE	NT%		EMIS		ΤT	REO. #				
CHANNEL	WIDTH (m)	10.1 10.	610.7	11.2 11.	2 10.8			2%	66		TEMP	*0		COND.		1	u\$/om	1 PAL
WETTED W	(m) HTON	9.7 12.	2 0.2	10.6 12	6 10.2			T			pH			TURB.	Ð	ML	Ċ	
RES. POOL	DEPTH (m)	0.3 0.	506	0.7 0.1	5 0.4						FLD SNS D. 40	ndan	Char	nness				
W _b Dp (m)	1 1	1 1	STAG	EL(M) H	No Vi	s. Ch.	Dr	ulat.			BED MATERIAL	Domin	ant ///	obles	Subde	om f	ine	
0	COWER	To	tal		D	N	Tribs.		_		D95 (cm)	D (cm	1		Morp	RE	20	
Type (S	nVD)(EWD)	B U	DP ((v) IV	CROW	N CLOSU	RE				DISTURBANCE	her-ce	n aben de	475A	87J	540	LWB DO	jari
AMT "	TT	NN	N	SN		(2279) h-	105 145	25. [25.102	N NRS		INDICATORS	dat at	B1 doline	BZ	B3 Incer	D1	UZ rater r	LUS SHIER
	PP		1	S.P.	0	1	2 2	4	5		C1 (C2)	C3 C4	CS	\$1	S2	\$3	54	\$5
	LWD FNC	N(F)A	DIST	C (E)	INSTREA	M VEG	(N)	A M	V		PATTERN	TM	ME	IM	IB	(B)	ST	- 6
8	LB SHP	U V (S)	0		RB SH	PUY	(3))		-	ISLANDS	(11)	0	1	F	ŝ	AN	- *
	TEXTURE	FGC	B. R (À)	TEXTUR	EFG	01	8 R /	۸.		BARS	N	SIDE	DIAG	(MID)	SPA	N BR	
	RIP. VEG.	NGS	C (D)	NW	RIP. VEG	N G	3	t D I	ww		COUPLING	(DC)	PC	CO				
	STAGE	INIT SHR	PS YF (MENA	STAG	E INIT	SHR I	PS VF (1	MENA		CONFINEMENT	EN	CD	FC	(∞)	UN	N/A	L
CN	ID MAP #	NID #	TYPE	HT/LG	(m) nth	s PHO	010	COMI	VENTS							UT	M	
10				1		R	F	uno	ler L	.ost	Lake foo	+ bris	lge.	1		1		
AUR .				1		R	F						~					1
8				1		R	F							1		1		1
				1		R	F							1		1		1



							÷ŧ			4	SITE	CARD)						_		_
STR	EAM	NAME	- (1	er.) F	Zut	her-	fore	d Cr	cek	_			ĝ.	all Ruther	ford	Cre	ek.			_	
W(A)	ERSI	HED CI	DDE	ili	3141	biti	101	0131	81810	10111	1.1.1		1	11111	111	11	11	11	1.1.1		11
ILP.	MAP	+ 92	5.0	26		LP#						NID M	AP#		NID #	t			1910.00	18 - A	000
REA	CH4		-			SITE#	1		FIELD	UTM 110	E09	353 1	566	위코너테GPZ 회	TELG	1	t.	ACC	ESS	V2	-
DAT	E1Z	1011	DISI	OH	100	6 TI	/E]	1.11	315	AGENCY	Same a	C	REM	ITLE 1	2.65	1	8	FISH	FORM	(T)	(N)
1	CH	ANNE		rtit	T	T					GRAD	IENT %	Г	EMS			REO. V				1
CHA	NNE	L WID	Hint	6.9	13.8	14.1	13.8	142	14.2		1%	65		TEMP	3°		COND.		. 9	S/en	
WE	TED	WIDT	tími	10.2	11.3	10.8	10.2	9.7	9.9				1	рH			TURS.	T	ML	\odot	
RES	. POO	L DEP	TH Ini	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.2					FLD SNS WI	ON	ant	ista	har	den.	chan	out!
W.	Dala	0.	-		10.10	STAS	ELd	M) H	No Vie	Ch	Broder.		1	BED MATERIAL	Domini	int co	bble	Sabd	om be	in left	20
		COVI	R	-	Ta	tal			DV	V Tr	iba.	-	t	D95 (cm)	Dicmi	1		Marp	h R	22	
	Type	SWD	LWD	8	U	DP	٥V	ħ,	CROW	I CLOSURE			L	DISTURBANCE	01	BL	82	B3	DI	D2	ian Dia Is
	AUIT	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	17751	105 2.45	10.295 25	EN + H		+177 70 P	6/8/ 19/1-2	1111	200 00	Enjar	Q HOS	en ba: en	10.00
	FQC.								0	1 2	3	4 5		C1 C2	C3 C4	65	S1	S2	\$3	S4	SS B
No.		LWD	FINC I	(11) F	A	DIST	6 (1	E) ()	STREAM	N VEG I	A	MV		PATTERN	TM	ME	IM	IR	(81)	ST	- 6
"		LB	SHP	UY	3	0		R	B SHF	6 N N G	00			ISLANDS	N (0)	1	F	S	AN	
		TEC	ruke	F 6	C)	B) R	A.	1	TEXTURE	F 8 (E B R	A		BARS	(N)	SIDE	DIAG	MID	SPAN	N BR	
		RIP.	VEG. ((N) 6	s	C D	M. W	1	RIP. VEG	(N) 6 8	S C D	MW		COUPLING	(DC) -	PC	¢0				
		S	TAGE	INIT	SHR	PS YF	MEN	A	STADE	INIT SHI	R PS VF	(ME)NA	T	CONFINEMENT	EN (60)	FC	00	UN	n/A	
	Ċ	NDA	APE	NI	D A	TYPE	HT	/16 e	1) mftd	PHOTO	DON	IMENTS							UTI	WI.	
88					-			1	-	R F	- h	dio	e.1e	rfrie cha	met		T.		1		1
E	-	-		-				1		8F_	_	1					1		I.		1
E				-	-	1		1		8 F	_	-	-				1	_	1		1
			-				-			RP_	_		_				1		1		1

SITE CARD		
reek (la	all Rutherford Creek	4
3.8800011111111	hidala	Lilii.
NID MAP #	NID #	
FIELD UTM	STELG	ACCESS V4
01216 AGENCY CREW	IJLC IZES I	FISH FORM YI (N)
GRADIENT'S	EMS RED.	
2113 2% 66	TEMP °C CONE), µS/em
8108	pH TUR6	TML(C)
603	RD SNS MEMILY DE DOOR Kent Film	wiel certiment
H Na Vis Ch Dovlet	BED MATERIAL Dominant boustel	Subdam colatale.
DW Triles.	D95 (em) D (cm)	Morph. C.P.
CROWN CLOSURE	DISTURBANCE DE DI BI B2	B3 D1 D2 D3
1 100 0-05 0-05 1405 385	exit sept deals not de the foreits	t feger lightly actual entodiest
0 1 2 3 4 5	C1 C2 C3 C4 C5 S1	S2 S3 S4 S5
INSTREAM VEG N A M V	PATTERN TM ME IM	III (SI) ST 🔒
NB SHP U(V)S 0	ISLANDS N () I	F S AN
TEXTURE F G C B R A	BARS (N) SIDE DIAS	MID SPAN BR
RIP. VEO. (N) G S C D M W	COUPLING DC PC CO	1.1
STAGE INIT SHE PS YF(MF)MA	CONFINEMENT EN (00) FC	OC UN N/A
(m) and PHOTO COMMENTS	·	UTM
R_F_ NO UTM.	n field	1 1
RF		
R F		
R F	1 N	
	STTECARD 766 k (00 318 610 0 1 NID MAP # FIELD UTM 1 012 16 ABENCY CREW 012 16 ABENCY CREW 012 16 ABENCY CREW 012 16 ABENCY CREW 013 2% 56 03 2% 56 04 0.3 2% 56 05 2% 2% 56 05 0.3 2% 56 06 0.3 2% 56 07 State Dry/int. 2% 012 1 2 3 4 013 2 4 5 014 2 3 4 5 011 2 3 4 5 INSTREAM VEG N A M V IB SHP U (V) S 0 1 1 TEXTUBLE	SITE CARD reack (boall Rutherford Cree's) 318/810101 111111111111111111111111111111



	SITE CARD		
STREAM NAME (poz) Rutherford C	reek de	call Rutheford Creek	
WATERSHED CODE 1119446711003	18181010 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		r han han hair.
ILP MAP # 92J. 026 ILP #	NID MAP #	NID#	
REACH # _ SITE # 3	FIELD UTM 10	SITELG	ACCESS V4
DATE 200150400 TIME 09	I O AGENCY CREW	JLC ZES	RISH FORM YI (N)
CHANNEL rthd T	GRADIENT %	EMS RE	L# 5
CHANNEL WIDTH (m) 5.1 5.3 6.7 8.2 7.5	5 6 6 1% GE	TEMP °C CO	ND. pS/cm
WETTED WIDTH (=) 4.8 4.9 6.2 7.8 7.0	0 6.4	pH TU	IB. T.N.L 🛈 🚆 🎬
RES. POOL DEPTH (m) 0.1 0.3 0.6 0.4 0.	20.1	RD SNS newly deposited	d fluvial sedimen
W Dp(m) STAGE L M H	No Vis. Ch. Dry/Int.	BED MATERIAL Dominant Cobb	le Subtom. boulder
COYER Total	DW Tribs.	D95 (cm) D (cm)	Morph 5Pm
Type STVD DWD B U DP OV N	CROWN CLOSURE	DISTURBANCE Data and Lat at , of	22 B3 D1 D2 D3 23
NNTNNTNN	2 1405 11-401 11-105 11-405 2 805	INDICATORS OF OIL O	The second secon
a LOC P P	0 1 2 3 4 5	C1 C2 C3 C4 C5 S	S1 S2 S3 S4 S5 👸
EWID FINC (N) F A DIST C (E)	INSTREAM VEG (N) A N Y	PATTERN TM ME IM	IR 🕄 ST 🛛 🛜
LB SHP U (V) S O	RB SHP U V (S) 0	ISLANDS N 0 I	F S AN
TEXTURE F G C B R A	TEXTURE F G 🕲 🖪 R A	BARS (N) SIDE DIA	AG MID SPAN BR
RIP. VEG. (N) G S C D M W	RIP. VEG. (N)G S C D M W ·	COUPLING DC PC (CO)
STAGE INIT SHE PS YE ME NA	STADE INIT SHR PS YF MF NA	CONFINEMENT EN (CO) FC	OC UN NA
C NID MAP# NID # TYPE HT/LC	n) mfrd PHOTO COMMENTS		UTM
22 C	RF NO UTM	n field	I
j 🐘	R F		
2 100	R F		
	R F		

							_			SI	TEC	ARD	ł., .	and the second second							
STREAM	A NAME	(ga	1.150	O Ri	ver								llac	# 500 R	ver						
WATERS	HED COD	DE	1191	41017	1/10	1014	1518	00	1	1.1	11	LLI	1	11111	111	11	11	11	11	11	111
ILPMAR	1923	1. 02	10	LP P				22010			1	ID MA	P#		NID	+					1000
REACH	t.	-		SITE	+ 1	l	RB.	D UTM	110	6	04713	5 159	1474	190 GP2 S	ITE LG	1	1	ACI	ESS	YZ	
DATE	21010	50	1410	10 1	IME [115	1/15	, AG	ENCY			CR	EW	JJLC	1265	C to C	-	FIS	H FORM	d Y	11
CH	MINEL		httm	T		1				G	ADIEN	15		EMS		T	REQ. #				
CHANNE	EL WIDTH	((n)	4.91	51.9.	6 14	2 3.	8 3.9				1%	C.E.		TEMP	*1	:	COND		-	uS/am	
WETTED	WIDTH	Ini	3.614	1.7 (4)	6 12	813	1/3.3		-		T			pH			TURB.	. T	ML	(2)	- 3
RES, PO	OL DEPT	tini	0.2 0	13 0.	40.	30.3	0.5			-	-			FLD SNS / V	D 140	10.010	ha	140		-	-
W. Dr G	n) i		1 1	STA	VGE L	(M) H	May	Ge Ch		Davi	let.	+		BED MATERIAL	. Domin	sent //	hale	Subd	lan C	in a	- 11
	COVER		-	Total		-	0	W	Tr	181.		4		D95 jemi	D (cm	0	Upine	Mort	1. 120	20	
Type	SWD U	WD	8 L	DP	07	IV	CROY	VIN CLO	SURE	-				DISTURBANCE	-	-	and the local	100	90	000	
AVIT	7	TI	NI	NV	S	N	175	1205	11.60%	41.795	17.85	+ 10%		INDICATORS	UI MUN	D de lite	Diam bet	BJ leger	lanet.	0.000	Ud /
100	S	ŝ			P		0	1	2	3	4	5		C1 C2	C3 C4	C5	\$1	S 2	\$3	\$4	S5
No.	LWD P	VC N	101	DIS	r c	DI	NSTRE	AM VE	G (A	() A	M	v		PATTERN	TM	ME	IM	(18)	51	ST	100
• —	LB S	HP U	IV (3	0 (1	B SI	P U	V (3	s) o				ISLANDS	N (0)	1	F	s	AN	
	TEXTU	RE F	G	BR	A		TEXTUR	E F	(i) (B	RA			BARS	N	SIDE)	DIAG	MID	SPA	N BR	
	RIP. V	EG. ()	Da s	C D	M	W	RIP. VE	0. N	0 5	C (D M	W ·		COUPLING	(0C)	PE	00				
	STA	DE I	NIT SHE	PSY	F MF	NA	STAC	IE IN	IT SHE	R (PS	HF M	FNA		CONFINEMENT	EN	C0 (FC)	00	UN	N/A	
c	NID MA	P4	NID #	TYP	E H	T/LG]	n) =1	d 1	HOTO	T	COMM	ENTS							UT	M	
23				-	-	1	-	R_	F_				_				1		1		-1
H	1					1	_	8_	. F.								1		- 1		
E .		-	-			-		R_	F								-	_		-	1
	-	-		-	-	1		R	F							-	1		-		1
and the second se									_				_				_				



1000						SITE	CARD	1								
STREAM NAME	(goz) Soo	River						0 no	10 Soo R	iver						
WATERSHED COD	111914	16171110	01041	51810	0 1	111	1.1	1	11111				1			1
ILP MAP # 925	02.6	ILP #					NID M4	\P.#		NID #						
REACH #	-	SITE #	2	RIELD U	πM ₁ 10	15097	50 15	567	13671GPZ SI	TELG			ADC	ess Yr	2	
DATE 2 010	510,410	16 TIME	14	010	AGENCY		CP	EW.	JLC	ZES	1		RSH	FORM	VI /N	2
CHANNEL	rthd					GRADIE	NT %		EMS			REQ. #				5
CHANNEL WIDTH	m1 19.2 18.	6 187 18	3.8 19.1	19.1		90	GE		TEMP	°C		COND.		pS/c	m	1
WETTED WIDTH (r	N 18.7 18	2 18.2 18	1 180	183					μH			TURB.	Т	M L C)	
RES. POOL DEPTH	m) unknor	win							FLD SNS							
W _b Dp (m) 1	1 1	STAGE	L(M)H	No Vis.	Ch.	Dey/Int.			BED MATERIAL	Domina	nt da	oble	Subdo	m. Fin	e	
COVER	1	lotal		DW	Tril	bs.		-	D95 (cm)	D (cm)			Morph	1 SP6	-w	
Type SWD LV	10 B U	DP 0V	/ N	CROWN	CLOSURE				DISTURBANCE	listoriket	Diam of	200	4v4	DI DA	100	
AMT N T	SN	NN	N	22313	6N 11-8%	45 R.N. 15-90	51 2 8/4	-	INDICATORS	-UT	(B)	BZ I	D-3 Teger	9/10/02	a la toter	ġ.
LOC P	P			0	1 2	3 4	5		C1 C2	C3 C4	C5	S1	S2	\$3 \$4	\$5	품
S LWD FN	C (N) F A	DIST C	1	STREAM	VEG (N	A N	v		PATTERN	TM P	ME	IM	角	SI S	ST	5
LB SI	PUVS	0	R	B SHP	UV(S)	0			ISLANDS	<u>n</u>]	1	F	s /	AN	1
TEXTU	E F G C	(B R A	1	TEXTURE	FGC	(B) H (6		BARS	(i) :	IDE	DIAG	MID	SPAN	BR	-
RIP. VE	a (N) 6 5	C D M	W	RIP. VEG.	NG S	C D I	M Wr		COUPLING	(6G) F	00	CO				
STAC	E INT SHR	PS YE ME	F NA	STAGE	INT SHR	PS	ME NA		CONFINEMENT	EN C	:0	(FC)	00	UN D	A/V	
C ND MA	* NID#	TYPE I	HT / LG (n	n) mthd	PHOTO	COM	MENTS				1			UThi		
8			1		Ř F	- neo	v h	wh	1 OVER PRISS			1		1		
20			1		R F				1			1				1
22			1		R F									1		1
			1		R F	-						1		1		1

										٤ (SITE C	ARD	ŝ.,,	and the second second							_	
STILEA	MINA	ME 🕴	poz.	Seo	BU	ver:							(lo)	W See Ry	VET							
WATE	ISHED	CODE	114	914	6171	10	041	5180	101	1.1	L L	1.1.1	1	1111	LL	1.1.1	1.1.	11	11	1.1	11	1
ILP MA	P & C	12.3.	026		ILP ∉		-	6		1.11		NUD MAN	7.1	ne el la el po	14	D#		1110	0.00			
REACH	14		-		SITE #	3		RELD	UTN I	10.1	50987	2 155	56	70401672	SITELO		1	AC	CESS	12		
DATE	210	1015	014	10	6 11	NE I T	121	515	AGEN	N.	1.1.1.1.1	CR	EW	1 JLC	1ZES	1		FIS	H POR	AΥ	1/8	
0	HANK	IEL	rthi	17	T	T				Т	GRADIER	W 10	-	EMS			REQ. #					-
CHAND	NEL W	IDTH (m)	17.7	19.1	2 201	21.0	24.1	29.4			1%	6E		TEMP		3*	COND			p\$/om		
WELLE	ED WILD	OTH OTO	112.1	10.1	19.5	19.9	77.1	78.1			110	-	_	pH			TURB.	Т	ML	0	-	1
RES. P	OOL D	EPTHIC	Lunk	a facility	1100	1 41 4		and the		-			_	FLD SNS	-		-	_	_		100	1
W. D.	Óm) .			1	STAG	EL I	U H	H- 15-	. 65		e.f.et		-	BED MATERIA	L Car	inant / a	hhle	Subo	in f	int.		12
HP SP	LCD	VER	-	T	tal.		-	DV	V	Tribs	ewar.	-	-	D95 (cm)	Dir	nl	ODIC	Man	th R	Pe		
Ϋ́́́	pe SW	10 1:00	в	U	DP	07	N	CROW	N CLOSU	RE		_	_	DISTURBANC	E	riter Kard	82	80	3700	00	(m)	
Ab	TT	T	N	N	D	N	N		125 10	arts 41-	124 11482	+ 1 × 10.54		INDICATORS	aleria er	0.0 414	No. 1	B.S.	6.40	1408	100	BIOL
10	EP	P		-	P		-	0	W	2	3 4	5		C1 C2	C3 1	C4 C5	S1	\$2	\$3	\$4	85	봄
8	LW	D FNC	NE	A	DIST	(Ĉ)	E IN	STREAM	M VEG	(N)	A M	V		PATTERN	TM	ME	IM	(IR)	51	51		6
8	LB	SHP	UV	(8)	0		R.	I SHI	UC	5	0			ISLANDS	(N)	0	1	F	5	A/	1	
	T	EXTURE	(F) 6	O	BR	A	7	ELTUR	EFO	CÍ	B) H A			BARS	N	(\$108)	DIAG	MID	SP/	AN BR		
	B	IP.VEG.	N G	S	¢ (fb)	M 10		NP. YES	LNG	5	C D (A	NW.	-	COUPLING	(0C)	PC	CO					1
		STARE	INIT	SHR	PS VF	MEN	A	STAG	E INIT	SHE	PS VE A	NENA		CONFINEMEN	IT EN	CO /	FC)	00	UN	N	A.	
		D MAP #	NI	DA	TYPE	HT	/16 (m	d Inte	PH	OTO	DOM	TENTS	-			-	-		U	TM		
10	-				-	-		-	R	F					_		1	-	1			1
8-	+		-	-	-	-	-		B	F							1		1	8	-	1
1	+			_	-	-	-	+	R	F			-				1		-			11
-	+		-	_	-	-	-	-	R	F			-				1		1	8 -		1
					-	_	_		-		_		_						_		_	



Appendix C: Letter of Authorization



ATTISH LUMB	Ministry of Water, Land and Air Protection Regional Operations Lower Mainland Region	FAX S	HEET
Date:	Friday, October 15, 2004	# of pages	(including this sheet)
To:	Zac Semeniuk & Jen Carter	Fax #	(604) 432-9046
Office:	BCIT - Fish and Wildlife	Phone #	(604)
From:	Iain Lunn	Phone #	(604) 582-5234
	Regional Operations 10470 152 Street, Surrey BC V3R 0Y3	Fax #	(604) 930-7119
	and the second		
Zac . Plea with How Goo Iain	Jen: se ensure that you have the accompanying let bait. The local conservation officer Chris Do ever, the Federal fisheries officers have not. d luck,	ter on your perso byle, has been in	on any time you are samplit formed of your activities.

Figure 13: Authorization by the Ministry of Water, Land and Air Protection to angle with bait. Page 1 of 2.



10/15/2004 11:10 FAX 604 582 5305 MEL

MELP - SURREY

Ø002





TO SHIFT

October 15, 2004

To whom it may concern:

Re: Bull Trout Inventory Project

By way of this letter, British Columbia Institution of Technology students Zac Semeniuk and Jen Carter have the permission of the Ministry of Water, Land and Air Protection to use bait while sampling for bull trout on the following water courses between the dates of October 15, 2004 and March 31, 2005.

1. Rutherford Creek

- 2. Fitzsimmoms Creek
- 3. Soo River
- Nineteen Mile Creek
- 5. Twentyone Mile Creek
- 6. Black Comb Creek

Sincepely a

lain Lunn' Conservation Biologist Ministry of Water, Land and Air Protection Lower Mainland Region

Ministry of Water, Land and Air Protection Regional Operations Lower Mainland Region Mailing/Location Address: 10470 152 Street SURREY BC V3R 0Y3 Tolephone: (604) 582-5200 Facsimile: (504) 930-7119 http://www.gov.bc.ca/ http://www.gov.bc.ca/wisp/

Figure 14: Authorization by the Ministry of Water, Land and Air Protection to angle with bait. Page 2 of 2.

